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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report on Form 10-K includes both historical and forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements on our
current expectations and projections about future results. When we use words in this document, such as �anticipates,� �intends,� �plans,� �believes,�
�estimates,� �expects,� �will,� �should,� and similar expressions, we do so to identify forward-looking statements. Such statements are intended to
operate as �forward looking statements� of the kind permitted by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, incorporated in
Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. That legislation protects such predictive
statements by creating a �safe harbor� from liability in the event that a particular prediction does not turn out as anticipated.

While we always intend to express our best judgment when we make statements about what we believe will occur in the, future, and although we
base these statements on assumptions that we believe to be reasonable when made, these forward looking statements are not a guarantee of
performance, and you should not place undue reliance on such statements. Forward looking statements are subject to many uncertainties and
other variable circumstances, many of which are outside of our control, that could cause our actual results and experience to differ materially
from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are affected by risks, uncertainties and
assumptions that we make, including, among other things

�  cyclical changes in market supply and demand for steel; general economic conditions; U.S. or foreign trade
policy affecting steel imports or exports; and governmental monetary or fiscal policy in the U.S. and other major
international economies;

�  during the recession that began in 2001, key industries we serve experienced decreased demand for their
products, adversely affecting our ability to increase or maintain sales; we observed a recovery in the general economy
and the industries we serve in the last quarter of fiscal 2004 resulting in a strong increase in sales and our financial
results that has continued in the first quarter of fiscal 2005; however, there can be no assurance as to the duration of
the recovery;

�  availability and pricing of products we sell are influenced by factors beyond our control, including general
economic conditions, bankruptcies or consolidation of primary metal producers, governmental trade restrictions or
tariffs on metal products and competition, and may result in volatility in the supply and/or pricing of metal products,
our market share and/or gross margins:

�  increased foreign demand, changes in foreign exchange rates, and reduction of some domestic mill capacity
have resulted in longer lead times and tightened supply for some of the products we sell;

�  risks and uncertainties involving new processes or new technologies, such as the improvements of our
information management system and the expansion and automation of our Chicago facility by installing the Kasto
system;

�  our ability to implement customer selling price increases in response to higher metal costs, including
surcharges that have recently been added to the costs of certain metals by our suppliers;

�  the occurrence of unanticipated equipment failures and plant outages or incurrence of extraordinary operating
expenses;
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�  actions by our domestic and foreign competitors, including the addition or reduction of production capacity,
or loss of business from one or more of our major customers or end-users;

�  labor unrest, work stoppages and/or strikes involving our own workforce, those of our important suppliers or
customers, or those affecting the steel industry in general;

�  the effect of the elements upon our production or upon the production or needs of our important suppliers or
customers; our achievement of management�s business plans;

�  pending, anticipated private or governmental liability claims or litigation, or the impact of any adverse
outcome of any currently pending or future litigation on the adequacy of our reserves, the availability or adequacy of
our insurance coverage, our financial well-being or our business and assets;

�  changes in interest rates or other borrowing costs, or the effect of existing loan covenants or restrictions upon
the cost or availability of credit to fund operations or take advantage of other business opportunities;

�  foreign currency exchange rates could change, affecting the price we pay for certain metals and the results of
our foreign operations; and

�  changes in environmental legislation and environmental conditions.

The Company is also affected by risks, the uncertainties and assumptions that are more fully discussed in our Registration Statement on Form
S-4 filed on July 3, 2002, and our other periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

1
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You should be aware that any forward-looking statement made by us in this report, or elsewhere, speaks only as of the date on which we make
it. New risks and uncertainties come up from time to time, and it is impossible for us to predict these events or how they
may affect us. We have no duty to, and do not intend to, update or revise the forward-looking statements in this report
after the date of this report.  In light of these risks and uncertainties, you should keep in mind that any forward-looking
statement made in this report or elsewhere might not occur.

PART I

Item 1.  BUSINESS

We were formed on May 3, 1990, when affiliates of Kelso & Companies Inc. acquired control of and combined two leading metals distributors,
Earle M. Jorgensen Company, the �Company� or �EMJ�  (founded in 1921) and Kilsby-Roberts Holding Co. (successor to C.A. Roberts Company,
founded in 1915).  In connection with this combination, we became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. ,
or �Holding�.

We are one of the largest independent distributors of metal products in North America, providing value-added metals processing services and
distributing over 25,000 different metal products. We have been distributing metal products for over 80 years and we believe we are the leading
distributor of bar and tubing products in North America. We have over 35,000 customers engaged in a wide variety of
industries, including machine tools, transportation, industrial equipment, fabricated metal, oil, gas and energy,
construction and farm equipment and aerospace. None of our customers represent more than 2% of our gross
revenues. Customers are serviced by our network of 36 service and processing centers located throughout North
America.

In addition to offering a broad range of metals products, we serve our customers by providing metals processing expertise and inventory
management services, as well as what we believe is a unique on-time product delivery guaranty. We purchase metals products from primary
producers and sell these metals in smaller quantities to a wide variety of end users. We process nearly all of the metals products we sell by
cutting to length, burning, sawing, honing, shearing, grinding, polishing, and performing other similar services on
them, all to customer specifications. During fiscal 2004, we handled approximately 7,900 sales transactions per
business day, at an average of $520 per transaction.

Over the last several years, we have streamlined our operations and lowered our operating costs. We have focused our efforts on improving
internal business processes and systems, enhancing customer service, reducing headcount, optimizing facility workflow, eliminating redundant
facilities and eliminating management layers and corporate overhead. These efforts have produced a more flexible operating cost structure and
significantly greater employee productivity. From fiscal year 1998 to fiscal year 2004, our average total headcount was reduced by over 29% to
1,628 employees, while average tons shipped from our facilities per employee increased approximately 56% to 385 tons for fiscal year 2004. We
have continued to make productivity improvements. At March 31, 2004 our headcount was 1,616.
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We operate in one reportable segment�the metals service center industry�through a network of 36 service and processing centers strategically
located throughout North America, including three service centers in Canada.  For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, we generated revenues
of $1,040.4 million and reported net income and EBITDA (as defined � see �Item 6. Selected Financial Data�) of $15.3 million and $80.8 million,
respectively.

Industry Overview and Competition

Primary metals producers, which manufacture and sell large volumes of steel, aluminum and specialty metals in standard sizes and
configurations, generally sell only to those large end users and metals service centers who do not require processing of the
products and who can order in large quantities and tolerate relatively long lead times. We do not believe that the role
of the primary metals producers will change in the foreseeable future and they will continue to focus on providing
efficient and volume-driven production of a limited number of standardized metal products.

After many quarters of weak industrial economic conditions in the United States, in the last calendar quarter of 2003 the metal service center
industry began to experience both growth in sales volume and increases in prices. A combination of factors, including improved industrial
demand, favorable exchange rates for exporting companies (unfavorable exchange rates for importers of metals),
continued low interest rates, and recent price increases from mills because of higher raw material costs and higher
capacity utilization, have begun to impact the metals service center industry. While metals prices for most of calendar
2003 were volatile due to competitive pressures and changes in availability of inventories held by service centers or
supplied by both domestic and foreign mills, these factors resulted in a general

2
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modest increase in metals prices in the last calendar quarter of 2003. Both prices and surcharges have risen since the beginning of calendar 2004.
We believe that the metals service center industry will continue to increase its role as a valuable intermediary between primary metals producers
and end users, principally as a result of (i) the metals producers� efforts to increase sales to larger volume purchasers in order to increase
production efficiency and (ii) increased demand by end users for value-added services in order to reduce their costs and capital expenditures
associated with the production process.

The metals service center industry is highly fragmented, consisting of a large number of small companies, which are limited as to product line,
size of inventory and customers located within a specific geographic area, and a few relatively large companies. Nevertheless, based on 2002
data, approximately $25.7 billion of sales in the industry were controlled by the 50 largest metals service centers in North America. The industry
includes both general-line distributors, like us, that handle a wide range of metals products, and specialty distributors, which specialize in
particular categories of metals products. Geographic coverage by metals service centers is influenced by their national, regional and local
representation. Generally, the metals service center industry competes on price and the ability to provide customers with value-added services
such as product selection and availability, timely and reliable delivery, quality and processing capability.

The larger and more established companies, like EMJ, have certain advantages over smaller companies, such as obtaining higher discounts
associated with large volume purchases, the ability to service customers with operations in multiple locations, the use of more sophisticated
information systems, and the availability of sufficient working capital to expand product lines, facilities and/or processing capabilities.

Competitive Strengths

We believe that the following factors contribute to our success in the metals service center industry:

Superior Service, Product Selection, and Quality.    Over the last several years, we have implemented a program for our
customers in which we guaranty on-time delivery of our products or they are free. This program, which we believe is
unique among major distributors in North America, has been very successful, with on-time performance of over 99%
since its inception in 1999. We have been able to successfully offer this service because of the combination of our
leading inventory management information systems technology, broad network of service and processing centers, and
extensive inventory of core products, including one of the broadest lines of bar and tubing products in North America.
In addition to our on-time guaranty and our broad product offering, we are a recognized leader in the metals service
center industry with an excellent reputation for quality and service built over our 80 years in operation.  We have
received numerous quality and service awards from our customers and have consistently demonstrated our
commitment to improve our business in order to better satisfy our customers needs, including being among the first in
our industry to receive ISO 9002 and QS 9000 certifications and in providing electronic commerce capabilities.

Industry Leading Information Systems.    Our industry leading proprietary management information systems enable us to
assess business conditions, monitor operating results, track and allocate inventory among different locations, optimize
purchasing and improve customer service through better order and product reference data. The ability to track our
inventory system-wide on a real-time basis through our systems allows our salespeople to integrate ordering and
scheduling, which enables us to meet our on-time delivery guaranty.  Our proprietary systems have been and will
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continue to be upgraded,  developed and implemented to improve efficiencies and customer service.

Broad Network of Strategically Located Facilities and Diverse Customer Base.    Our service centers are strategically located
throughout North America, generally within one day�s delivery time to almost all U.S. manufacturing centers. Our
broad service network gives us the ability to provide services to national customers with multiple locations. We serve
more than 35,000 customers across a broad range of industries with no single customer accounting for more than 2%
of our gross revenues. Our largest ten customers represented approximately 10% of our revenues in fiscal 2004, and
the average length of these customer relationships was approximately 14 years.

Technology Driven Process Improvements.    We have developed warehouse automation tools to streamline order filling and
maximize employee productivity and have invested significantly in automated inventory storage and retrieval systems
(�Kasto� systems) in our Kansas City and Chicago facilities.  We believe that these tools and systems have and will
continue to reduce our material handling and processing costs, substantially increase order fill rates, and provide us
with a significant competitive advantage.  For example, as the result of installing the Kasto system in Kansas City, we
added 20% more inventory storage capacity while using 41% less floor space and reduced headcount approximately
18% to 78 in fiscal 2003 from 95 in fiscal year end 1998.  In Chicago, we have already realized benefits from the
completed installation of several Kasto systems as part of a 130,400 sq. ft. expansion to our existing 473,300 sq. ft.
depot.  These

3
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Kasto systems enable the Chicago facility to process and ship more than 4,000 inventory line items per day, compared to its capacity of about
2,200 inventory line items per day prior to such installation, while significantly reducing labor costs.

Experienced Management with Significant Equity Ownership.    Our senior management team has an average of 29 years of
industry experience. Our chief executive officer, Maurice S. Nelson, has spent over 42 years in the metals industry
with us and at Inland Steel Company and Alcoa. Mr. Nelson was named the Service Center Executive of the Year for
2001 by Metal Center News and served as chairman of the Metal Service Center Institute during the 2002 � 2003 year. 
Our employees directly, and indirectly through our stock bonus and stock option plans, beneficially own in the
aggregate approximately 24.2% (28.4% on a fully-diluted basis) of the outstanding common stock of Holding (the
��Holding Common Stock�) as of March 31, 2004.

Operating and Growth Strategy

Our primary business goals are to increase market share, expand services to customers and to improve operating profits and cash flows. Our
growth and operating strategies consist of the following elements:

Focus on Value-Added Products and Services to Increase Market Share and Gross Margins.  We believe our commitment to provide
on-time delivery service will continue to differentiate us and our service capabilities from others in the industry who
generally offer only �best efforts� delivery service, which customers find less reliable. We intend to continue to use this
competitive advantage to increase our market share. In addition, we seek to increase our gross margins and grow our
market share by combining sales from inventory with value-added services such as inventory management and
pre-production processing activities, including cutting and honing operations. Accordingly, we will focus on
increasing our efficiencies and capacities in these value-added operations and in aggressively marketing these
services.

Leveraging Core Products.  We have historically been a major purchaser and distributor of various �long� products, namely
cold finished carbon and alloy bars, mechanical tubing, stainless bars and shapes, aluminum bars, shapes and tubes,
and hot-rolled carbon and alloy bars. Our core products are higher margin products than widely available products,
such as flat-rolled steel, sheet and rebar. In addition, we believe our purchasing volumes for our core products enable
us to achieve the lowest available product acquisition costs for these products among service centers. As a result, we
believe we realize higher gross margins than many of our competitors for our core products. We believe we can
significantly grow market share and increase profitability by continuing to focus our marketing efforts on our
extensive selection of core products and leveraging our procurement advantage. Leveraging our strength in our core
products should enable us to establish competitive advantages in all of our local markets as well as allow us to
successfully compete for larger national programs with customers.
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Maintain Technology Leadership.  We have made and will continue to make investments in technology in order to
differentiate our service capabilities from those of our competitors. We will continue to enhance our management
information systems by upgrading software and hardware to improve connectivity, stability and reliability of our
management information systems and data. These planned improvements include (i) creating a centralized data
warehouse to facilitate greater access to transactional information, (ii) developing new electronic commerce tools for
customer and vendor interfaces to offer better compatibility with various systems, (iii) implementing IP Telephony to
reduce costs and allow for greater customer service flexibility, and (iv) enhancing our sales and warehouse automation
functionality to further improve productivity and efficiency.

Expand Satellite Operations. We believe a key aspect of serving our customers is having a physical presence in those
markets requiring our products and services. Accordingly, we have formalized a strategy to target those geographic
areas where we can justify opening a �satellite� location. These locations are managed locally by warehouse and
delivery personnel, stock a limited inventory of core products and require minimal initial and maintenance capital
expenditures, resulting in a low cost opportunity to serve select markets. Each satellite operation is supported by
inventory, inside salespeople and the general management of our larger service center responsible for the satellite�s
results of operations. Since the beginning of fiscal 2000, we have opened six satellites, including a facility in Orlando,
Florida, in October 2003. We will be relocating our Chattanooga, Tennessee satellite to a larger full service facility in
Birmingham, Alabama in fiscal 2005. We are evaluating other potential satellites.

4
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Products And Suppliers

We have designated certain carbon and alloy, aluminum, and stainless products as core product offerings under our bar and tubing lines. We also
offer certain plate and other products. Each of our service centers stocks a broad range of shapes and sizes of each of these products, as dictated
by market demand, in an effort to be a market leader in all of the core product lines in its geographic area.

Carbon steel bar products (hot-rolled and cold-finished) and carbon plate and sheet are used in construction equipment, farm equipment,
automotive and truck manufacturing and oil exploration as well as a wide range of other products. Stainless steel bar and plate are used widely in
the chemical, petrochemical, and oil refining and biomedical industries where resistance to corrosion is important. Aluminum bar and plate are
frequently used in aircraft and aerospace applications where weight is a factor. Different tubing products are appropriate for particular uses
based on different characteristics of the tubing materials, including strength, weight, resistance to corrosion and cost. Carbon tubing and pipe are
used in general manufacturing. Alloy tubing is used primarily in the manufacturing of oil field equipment and farm equipment. Stainless steel
tubing and pipe are used in applications requiring a high resistance to corrosion, such as food processing. Aluminum tubing and pipe are used in
applications that put a premium on lightweight (such as aerospace manufacturing).

The percentage of revenues generated from sales of material by product group for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 is as
follows.

Year Ended March 31,

2002 2003 2004
Bars:
Carbon and Alloy 36.6% 37.4% 37.4%
Stainless 11.9 11.3 11.7
Aluminum 7.7 7.9 8.1
Brass .7 1.0 1.4
Total 56.9 57.6 58.6

Tubing:
Carbon and Alloy 24.6 24.6 23.6
Stainless 3.0 2.9 2.8
Aluminum 3.6 3.2 2.7
Total 31.2 30.7 29.1

Plate:
Carbon and Alloy 3.9 3.5 3.2
Stainless 1.5 1.3 1.2
Aluminum 2.3 2.4 2.0
Total 7.7 7.2 6.4
Other 4.2 4.5 5.9

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
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The majority of our procurement activities are handled by a centralized merchandising office in our Chicago facility where specialists in major
product lines make the majority of inventory purchases on behalf of our service centers. This merchandising group develops and evaluates the
working relationships with high-quality suppliers to ensure availability, quality and timely delivery of product. Because of this centralized
coordination and the total volume of purchases we make, we often are a recognized distributor for major metals suppliers and believe that we are
able to purchase our core products inventory at the lowest unit cost available in the industry.

The majority of our inventory purchases are made by purchase order, and we have no significant supply contracts with periods in excess of one
year. We are not dependent on any single supplier for any product or for a significant portion of our purchases, and in fiscal year 2004 no single
supplier represented more than 10% of our total purchases. We purchased less than 15% of our inventory requirements from foreign-based
suppliers in fiscal 2004.

On March 5, 2002, President Bush, among other actions, imposed a three-year tariff of 30%, 24% and 18% on imports of hot rolled, cold rolled
and coated sheet for 2002, 2003, and 2004, respectively, as well as on imports of steel slabs in excess of a specified annual quota. Due to certain
rulings by the World Trade Organization and adverse reaction from steel consuming industries, these tariffs were terminated by the President on
December 4, 2003. A steel import licensing and monitoring system maintained by the United States Department of Commerce will remain in
force. We do not believe that these factors materially impacted the availability or pricing of product we sold during fiscal 2004 or will

5
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have a significant impact in fiscal 2005. However, to the extent metals prices decline, this generally would mean lower sales and possibly lower
net income, depending on the timing and magnitude of the price changes. Alternatively, to the extent we are not able to pass on to our customers
any increases in our raw materials prices our results may be adversely affected.

Customers and Markets

We provide metal products and value-added metals processing services to over 35,000 customers throughout North America that do business in
a wide variety of industries, none of which represents more than 2% of our gross revenues. During fiscal 2004, we processed approximately
7,900 sales transactions per business day generating an average revenue of approximately $520 per transaction.  In addition, sales of material out
of our stock inventory (referred to as �stock� sales) represented 89.7%, 90.8% and 91.7% of total revenues generated from material sales for fiscal
years 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. We believe our ability to support this high proportion of stock sales is critical in growing market share
and maintaining higher gross margins than would otherwise be possible. The balance of revenues represents special customer requirements that
we meet by arranging mill-direct sales and by making buy-outs from other distributors of inventory items we do not maintain as stock inventory.
Such non-stock sales generally have lower gross margins than stock sales, but provide a valuable customer service.

The following table provides the percentage of tonnage sold to our ten largest key industries for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and
2004.

Year Ended March 31,

2002 2003 2004

Machine Tools 27.4% 27.0% 28.1%
Industrial Equipment 9.5 8.7 7.7
Transportation 8.5 8.1 7.5
Metal Service Centers & Wholesale Trade 6.3 6.6 6.1
Fluid Power 4.1 4.7 6.0
Oil, Gas & Energy 4.3 4.2 5.8
Fabricated Metal 6.3 6.6 5.7
Construction/Farm Equipment 8.4 7.9 5.1
Screw Machine Products 4.4 6.0 5.0
Power Transmission Equipment 2.7 3.4 3.7
All Other Industries 18.1 16.8 19.3
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

The majority of our sales originate from individual purchase orders and are not subject to ongoing supply contracts; however, we make some of
our sales under contracts that fix the price for up to 12 months. When we enter into a fixed price contract, we enter into a corresponding supply
contract with our supplier to cover the commitment to our customer. These corresponding supply contracts substantially reduce the risk of
fluctuating prices negatively impacting our margins on these fixed price contracts. Such contracts provide the customer with greater certainty as
to timely delivery, price stability and continuity of supply, and sometimes satisfy particular processing or inventory management requirements.
Such contracts have resulted in new customer relationships and increased sales volumes, but can have a slightly lower gross margin than our
ordinary sales. We believe such contracts, in the aggregate, represented less than 10% of our total revenues in fiscal 2004. In addition, the
pricing for most of our sales is set at the time of the sale.
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Seasonal fluctuations in our business generally occur in the summer months and in November and December, when many customers� plants and
production levels are impacted by retooling, vacations or holidays. Order backlog is not a significant factor, as orders are generally filled within
24 hours.

Intellectual Property and Licenses

EMJ® and E-METALS® are registered trademarks and our name, is a registered service mark in the U.S. and in other
countries where we do or expect to do business. Other service marks, including hallmarks, logos, taglines or mottos
used to conduct business are or will be registered as necessary to protect our proprietary rights. We also own our
internet domain name, emjmetals.com. We consider certain information owned by us to be trade secrets, and we take
measures to protect the confidentiality and control the disclosure of such information. We believe that these
safeguards adequately protect our proprietary rights. While we consider all of our intellectual property rights as a
whole to be important, we do not consider any single right to be essential to our operations.

6
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Management Information Systems

Our industry leading proprietary management information systems enable us to assess business conditions, monitor operating results, track and
allocate inventory among different locations, optimize purchasing and improve customer service through better order and product reference data.
The ability to track our inventory system-wide on a real-time basis through our systems allows our salespeople to integrate ordering and
scheduling, which enables us to meet our on-time delivery guaranty.  Our proprietary systems have been and will continue to be upgraded,
developed and implemented to improve efficiencies and customer service.

Employees

As of March 31, 2004, EMJ employed 1,616 persons, of whom 997 were employed in production or shipping, 346 were employed in sales and
273 served in executive, administrative or district office capacities. Four different unions represented approximately 563 of our employees from
16 location.  Our Collective bargaining agreements expire on staggered dates through 2010.  We believe we have a good overall relationship
with our employees and do not expect any significant issues to arise in connection with agreements in the near future.

Foreign Operations

Through our wholly-owned subsidiary, Earle M. Jorgensen (Canada) Inc., a Canadian limited liability company, we operate three service centers
located in Toronto, Montreal and Edmonton. Revenues from our Canadian operations totaled $43.7 million in fiscal 2002, $54.4 million in fiscal
2003 and $70.0 million in fiscal 2004.

Governmental Regulations

Our operations are governed by many laws and regulations designed to promote workplace safety and to protect the welfare of employees,
principally the Occupational Safety and Health Act and regulations thereunder.  We believe we are in material compliance with these laws and
regulations and that the continued compliance will not have an adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to extensive and changing federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations designed to protect the environment, including
those relating to the use, handling, storage, discharge and disposal of hazardous substances and the remediation of environmental
contamination.  Although we believe we are in material compliance with laws and regulations, we are from time to time involved in
administrative and judicial proceedings and inquiries relating to environmental matters.
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During fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, expenditures totaling approximately $0.1 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, were
made in connection with monitoring and investigation activities at sites with contaminated soil and/or groundwater. As of March 31, 2004, an
accrual of $0.2 million exists for future investigation activities related to the Duwamish Site, as discussed below.  All other pending
environmental matters are not considered material and are fully discussed in Note 8 to consolidated financial statements.

Forge (Seattle/Kent, WA).    In November 1998, we paid the purchasers of our former Forge facility and an off-site
disposal site $2.3 million as an indemnification settlement for liabilities related to the remediation of known
contamination at the Forge facility. We continue to monitor the disposal site for environmental conditions in
accordance with a consent decree issued by the Washington Department of Ecology, or �Ecology.� Annual costs
associated with such monitoring are not significant, and we do not anticipate significant additional expenditures
related to this matter.

The Forge property is located on the Lower Duwamish Waterway, which has been identified by the United States Environmental Protection
Agency, or the �EPA,� as a Superfund Site, or the �Duwamish Site.� Under the federal Comprehensive Environmental Remediation, Compensation,
and Liability Act, or �Superfund,� owners or operators of facilities that have released hazardous substances to the environment may be liable for
remediation costs. Courts have held that such liability may be joint and several; however, in many instances, the costs are allocated among the
parties, primarily based on their estimated contribution to the contamination. The EPA, along with Ecology, have entered into an Administrative
Order of Consent (�AOC�) with four major property owners with potential liability for cleanup of the Duwamish Site that outline tasks required to
be completed to further investigate the nature and extent of the contamination and cleanup alternatives. In November 2001, the current owners of
the Forge property notified us of a
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potential claim for indemnification for any liability relating to contamination of the Duwamish Site. The notification stated that the Forge
facility, along with other businesses located along the Duwamish Site, are expected be named as potentially responsible parties for
contamination of the Duwamish Site and requested that EMJ participate under a joint defense.

On February 6, 2003, we received a request from the EPA to sign an AOC under CERCLA to investigate certain areas of the Duwamish Site.  A
preliminary estimate of the cost of proposed work under the AOC ranges from $0.4 million to $0.5 million, and is subject to approval by the
EPA.   As of March 31, 2004, we have accrued $0.2 million for these costs that are expected to be incurred during fiscal 2004.  On April 15,
2003, we signed a funding and participation agreement with the current owners of the Forge property, which requires us to fund 85% of costs to
be incurred in connection with the investigation activities to be performed under the AOC.

We are continuing to evaluate this matter and remedies we may have, including insurance recoveries for any monies to be spent as part of the
investigation or cleanup of the Duwamish Site. At this time, we cannot determine what ultimate liability we may have relating to this matter.

Although it is possible that new information or future developments could require our company to reassess its potential exposure relating to all
pending environmental matters, we believe that, based upon all currently available information, the resolution of such environmental matters
will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. The possibility exists, however, that new
environmental legislation and/or environmental regulations may be adopted, or environmental conditions may be found to exist, that may require
expenditures not currently anticipated and that may be material.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly, and current reports, and other documents with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the �SEC�.  You may read
and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC�s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549 (or you can
call 1-800-SEC-0330) or access such material via the SEC�s Internet website at http://www.sec.gov.

We also make available free of charge on or through our Internet website (http://www.emjmetals.com) our Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and, if applicable, amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

Item 2.  PROPERTIES

We currently maintain 36 service centers (including three plate processing centers, one cutting center and one tube honing facility), three sales
offices and one merchandising office at various locations throughout the U.S. and we are headquartered in Lynwood, California. Our facilities
generally are capable of being utilized at higher capacities, if necessary. Most leased facilities have initial terms of more than one year and
include renewal options. While some of the leases expire in the near term, we do not believe that we will have difficulty renewing such leases or
finding alternative sites.
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Set forth below is a table summarizing certain information with respect to our facilities.

Country/City/State
Owned (O)
Leased (L)

Size
(Sq. Ft.)

United States:
Birmingham, Alabama (a) O 80,000
Phoenix, Arizona O 72,200
Little Rock, Arkansas L 27,700
Hayward, California L 91,000
Los Angeles, California O 319,400
Denver, Colorado L 77,400
Orlando, Florida (b) L 29,700
Chicago, Illinois O 603,700
Indianapolis, Indiana O 225,000
Eldridge, Iowa L 104,500
Boston, Massachusetts O 63,500
Detroit, Michigan(b) L 28,700
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Minneapolis, Minnesota O 169,200
Kansas City, Missouri L 120,900
St. Louis, Missouri L 108,100
Rochester, New York(b) L 31,500
Charlotte, North Carolina O 175,300
Cincinnati, Ohio L 125,200
Cleveland, Ohio O 200,200
Cleveland, Ohio O 137,800
Tulsa, Oklahoma O 108,000
Tulsa, Oklahoma O 143,400
Portland, Oregon L 33,800
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania(c) L 38,000
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania(d) L 27,200
Wrightsville, Pennsylvania L 83,900
Chattanooga, Tennessee(b) L 27,000
Memphis, Tennessee L 56,500
Dallas, Texas O 132,800
Houston, Texas(e) O 276,000
Houston, Texas O 95,200
Salt Lake City, Utah(b) L 25,400
Seattle, Washington L 83,600
Canada:
Toronto, Ontario L 61,800
Montreal, Quebec L 82,700
Edmonton, Alberta L 25,800

(a) We are building a facility in Birmingham, Alabama that will replace the existing facility located in Chattanooga, Tennessee.
(b) These locations are considered satellite operations.
(c) Excludes 196,800 square feet subleased to a third party under a long-term agreement.
(d) The property being subleased in Philadelphia (c) is being phased out and we intend to move our operations from that facility into a new

leased facility in the same general area.
(e) We purchased a facility in Houston, Texas (95,200 sq ft) to replace the existing facility (276,000 sq ft), which is under a contract for

sale.

Item 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are occasionally involved in ordinary, routine litigation incidental to our normal course of business, none of which we believe to be material
to our financial condition or results of operations. We maintain various liability insurance coverages to protect our assets from losses arising out
of or involving activities associated with ongoing and normal business operations.

In 1996, the Department of Labor, or the �DOL,� initiated an investigation into our employee stock ownership plan, or the �Plan,� and Company
contributions to the Plan for fiscal years commencing March 31, 1992.  In the course of its investigation, the DOL and its advisors reviewed the
valuations of Holding�s common and preferred stock prepared for the Plan and challenged the methodology used in preparing the valuations.

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form 10-K

Item 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 19



On March 8, 2002, the DOL sued us, Holding, our Plan and former members of our benefits committee in the federal district court for the
Central District of California. The DOL claimed that the valuations of Holding�s common stock used to make annual contributions to our Plan in
each of the years 1994 through 2000 contained significant errors that resulted in the common stock being overvalued, and that the failure of the
members of our benefits committee to detect and correct the errors was a breach of their fiduciary duty under ERISA. As a result of the alleged
overvaluations, the DOL contended that the contributions to our Plan were prohibited transactions under ERISA. On January 27, 2003, we
signed a consent order and settlement agreement with the DOL in connection with their lawsuit.  The key provisions of the agreement are as
follows: (i) we are not required to make any payments under the agreement at this time; (ii) we are
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prohibited to make further common stock contributions to the stock bonus plan; (iii) we will continue to obtain annual appraisals of Holding
stock using methodology consistent with prior appraisals, and use that appraised value as the purchase price for repurchases of common stock as
we have done in the past, and; (iv) if the annual appraisal of our common stock is less than $4.25 per share, we shall pay a floor price of $4.25
per share in connection with the repurchase of common stock from departing employees for shares that were originally contributed to the stock
bonus plan for the plan years 1994 through 2000.

If we pay the floor price in connection with the repurchase of common stock from departing employees, the agreement also allows the DOL to
assess the Company a penalty equal to 20% of the amount calculated by multiplying the difference between the appraised value and the floor
price by the number of shares repurchased at the floor price.

We do not believe the DOL settlement will have a material impact on our financial condition or future results of operations, and we believe
payments under the settlement, if any, will most likely be paid in immaterial amounts which will be spread over many years.

In December 2003, we entered into agreements with Holding, a subsidiary and the principal stockholders of Holding providing for a merger and
financial restructuring.  Prior to approval of the transaction, the DOL initiated a review of the procedures followed by our benefits committee in
connection with evaluation of the proposed transaction and other strategic alternatives available to Holding and an assessment of whether or not
the proposed transaction complied with the terms of the consent order and the legal requirements applicable to the stock bonus plan.  Such
review resulted in delays that, combined with other transactional requirements, precluded the consummation of the merger and financial
restructuring on the terms originally proposed.  We are considering  changes to the proposed transaction that will achieve the objectives of the
original restructuring transaction, while meeting the concerns expressed by the DOL.  Holding intends to review any proposed transaction with
the DOL in advance under their compliance assistance program to ensure compliance with the terms of the consent order and applicable law. 
There can be no assurance that a revised transaction will be agreed upon, approved by the Holding stockholders and consummated.

On April 22, 2002, we were sued by Champagne Metals, a small metals service center distributing aluminum coil products in Oklahoma,
alleging that we had conspired with other metal service centers to induce or coerce aluminum suppliers to refuse to designate Champagne Metals
as a distributor, which resulted in unspecified damages.  EMJ and the other defendants filed motions for summary judgment, and on June 15,
2004, the federal District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma entered an order granting the motions for summary judgment of each of
the defendants including EMJ and dismissed the case.  The time for an appeal expires July 15, 2004.

Item 4.   SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

December 11, 2003, the board of directors of Holding, sole stockholder of the Company, approved a Written Consent of the Sole Stockholder of
the Company (a) approving a merger agreement and exchange agreement providing for the merger and financial restructuring of Holding and the
Company, (b) approving the amendment and restatement of the Company�s certificate of incorporation, increasing the Company�s authorized
capital to 80,000,000 authorized shares of capital stock (classified as follows: 79,000,000 shares of common stock, and 1,000,000 shares of
preferred stock) and (c) authorizing the issuance of shares of common stock in connection with the merger and financial restructuring.  The
Written Consent was executed by the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on December 15, 2003.  The amendment and
restatement of the Company�s certificate of incorporation will not take effect unless and until the merger is completed.
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On May 25, 2004 the Company announced that the proposed restructuring of the combined capital structure of EMJ with Holding, had been
delayed.  Because of the delay, additional negotiations among Holding�s security holders and changes to the structure of the transaction will be
required before it can proceed.

PART II

Item 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT�S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

We have 128 shares of common stock par value $.01 per share outstanding, all of which are owned by Holding.  For each of fiscal years ended
March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, we paid cash dividends totaling $14,963,000,  $10,587,000 and $5,781,000, respectively, to Holding in
connection with the repurchase of its capital stock from employees of EMJ whose employment had terminated, as required by the terms of
Holding�s Stockholders Agreement and our Plan.  In
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addition, we paid cash dividends of $25,000,000 to Holding in connection with our May 2002 refinancing of certain indebtedness.

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

All information contained in the following table was derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and should be
read in conjunction with �Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations� and with the
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Year Ended March 31,

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

(dollars in thousands)
Statement of Operations Data:
Revenues $ 938,252 $ 1,059,681 $ 895,058 $ 919,927 $ 1,040,367
Costs of goods sold 662,803 767,263 641,991 658,562 754,266
Gross profit 275,449 292,418 253,067 261,365 286,101
Operating expenses exclusive of
restructuring and other
non-recurring charges 205,626 223,222 200,933 210,277 216,629
Restructuring and other
non-recurring charges 2,432 5,320 1,861 � �
Income from operations 67,391 63,876 50,273 51,088 69,472
Net interest expense(1) 41,595 44,855 42,545 47,206 51,093
Net income 23,987 17,798 5,354 2,382 15,252

Other Data:
EBITDA(2) $ 77,342 $ 74,911 $ 59,803 $ 62,457 $ 80,756
EBITDA margin % 8.2% 7.1% 6.7% 6.8% 7.8%
Depreciation and amortization(3) 9,951 11,035 11,449 11,369 11,284
Capital expenditures 9,525 14,475 24,531 15,335 10,530
Net cash flows provided by
operating activities 32,984 38,026 14,544 30,974 29,491
Net cash flows used in investing
activities (4,846) (15,048) (24,752) (14,035) (7,396)
Net cash flows provided by (used
in) financing activities (24,331) (20,877) 7,748 (18,210) (26,580)
Ratio of earnings to fixed
charges(4) 1.54x 1.36x 1.11x 1.06x 1.31x
Dividends paid(5) 13,372 5,514 14,963 35,587 5,781

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 21,660 $ 23,758 $ 21,300 $ 20,030 $ 15,528
Total working capital 165,148 156,309 154,936 150,205 139,463
Total assets 464,374 484,264 443,998 490,741 536,480
Total debt 285,547 270,184 292,895 330,537 309,738
Total stockholder�s deficit (14,365) (3,151) (15,786) (48,016) (37,359)
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(1) Net interest expense includes amortization and write-off of debt issue costs aggregating $1,482, $1,482, $1,792, $1,416 and $1,323 for
the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, net of interest income of $636, $1,179, $164, $83 and
$81 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

(2) �EBITDA� represents net income before depreciation and amortization, net interest expense and provision for income taxes, as shown in
the table below.  Consistent with Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K, our EBITDA has not been adjusted to exclude any other non-cash
charges (credits) or liabilities, such as LIFO adjustments of $(9,022), $887, $590, $(3,354) and $14,343, and accruals for stock bonus
plan contributions and postretirement benefits aggregating $2,862, $11, $249, $498 and $619 for the years ended March 31, 2000, 2001,
2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.  In addition, our EBITDA has not been adjusted for any recurring or non-recurring items, such as
provisions for workforce reductions and consolidations and losses from sale of significant assets aggregating $2,432, $3,320, $1,861,
none and none for the years ended March 31,  2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively;  special compensation of $2,000 payable
to our CEO in fiscal 2001; excise tax of $1,919 related to an IRS settlement in fiscal 2002; and an extraordinary loss of $12,278 related
to early retirement of debt in fiscal 2003.  We believe that EBITDA is commonly used as a measure of performance for companies in
our industry and is frequently used by analysts, investors, lenders and other interested parties to evaluate a company�s financial
performance and its ability to incur and service debt.Our EBITDA is used by management as a performance measure to assess our
financial results in connection with determining incentive compensation, and is also used by the independent appraisal firm in
connection with their annual valuation of our equity.  While providing useful information, our EBITDA should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for consolidated statement of operations and cash flows data prepared in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles and should not be construed as an indication of a company�s operating performance or as a measure of
liquidity.
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Year Ended March 31,

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

(dollars in thousands)
Reconciliation of EBITDA:

Net income $ 23,987 $ 17,798 $ 5,354 $ 2,382 $ 15,252
Depreciation and amortization(4) 9,951 11,035 11,449 11,369 11,284
Net interest expense 41,595 44,855 42,545 47,206 51,093
Provision for income taxes 1,809 1,223 455 1,500 3,127
EBITDA $ 77,342 $ 74,911 $ 59,803 $ 62,457 $ 80,756

(3) Depreciation and amortization excludes amortization or write-off of debt issue costs referred to in Note (1) above, reflected in the
Company�s consolidated statements of operations as interest expense.

(4) In computing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, �earnings� represents pre-tax income (loss) plus fixed charges except capitalized
interest, if any.  �Fixed charges� represents interest whether expended or capitalized, debt cost amortization, and 33% of rent expense,
which is representative of the interest factor.

(5) Dividends paid to Holding in connection with the repurchase of its capital stock from terminated employees.  In fiscal 2003, the
Company also paid a dividend to Holding of $25,000 to be used to repay or repurchase a portion of its Holding Notes (as defined
below) and/or capital stock.

Item 7.  MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with �Item 6. Selected Financial Data� and the consolidated financial statements of the
Company, and the notes related thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

General

We are considered a general line distributor of metals, offering our customers a broad line of bar, tube and plate products.  We operate a network
of 36 service and processing centers strategically located throughout North America, from which we distribute over 25,000 different metals
products and provide value-added metals processing services to over 35,000 customers.

We purchase larger quantities of metals products from primary producers and sell these metals in smaller quantities to a wide variety of end
users. We process nearly all of the metals products we sell by cutting to length, burning, sawing, honing, shearing, grinding, polishing, and
performing other similar services on them, all to customer specifications. During fiscal 2004, we handled approximately 7,900 sales transactions
per business day, at an average of $520 per transaction.

The pricing for most of our sales is set at the time of the sale. We make some of our sales under contracts that fix the price for up to 12 months.
When we enter into a fixed price contract, we enter into a corresponding supply contract with our supplier to cover the commitment to our
customer. These corresponding supply contracts eliminate the risk of fluctuating prices negatively impacting our margins on these fixed price
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contracts.

Over the last several years we have streamlined our operations and lowered our operating costs. We have focused our efforts on improving
internal business processes and systems, enhancing customer service, reducing headcount, optimizing facility workflow, eliminating redundant
facilities and eliminating management layers and corporate overhead. These efforts have produced a more flexible operating cost structure and
significantly greater employee productivity, and have allowed us to offer our customers what we believe is a unique on-time product delivery
guaranty.

The metals service center industry is generally considered cyclical (with periods of strong demand and higher prices followed by periods of
weaker demand and lower prices), principally due to the nature of the industries in which the largest consumers of metals operate. We believe
our results have been less sensitive to economic trends than some of our competitors due to our customer base, product mix and the variety of
industries we serve.

The Proposed Merger and Financial Restructuring

In December 2003, we entered into agreements with Holding, a subsidiary and the principal stockholders of Holding providing for a merger and
financial restructuring.  Holding was unable to present the proposed transaction to its stockholders for approval prior to the end of our fiscal year
as a result of  review of the transaction by the DOL to determine whether or not the proposed transaction complied with the terms of the consent
order and the legal requirements applicable to the stock bonus plan.  Such review resulted in delays and, combined with other transactional
requirements, such delays precluded the consummation of the merger and financial restructuring on the terms originally proposed.  We are
considering  changes to the proposed transaction that will achieve the objectives the original restructuring transaction, while meeting the
concerns expressed by the DOL.  Holding intends to review any proposed transaction with the DOL in advance under their compliance
assistance program to ensure compliance with the terms of the consent order and applicable law.  There can be no assurance that a revised
transaction will be agreed upon, approved by the Holding stockholders and consummated.
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Overview of Fiscal 2004

After many quarters of weak industrial economic conditions in the United States, in the last calendar quarter of 2003 the metal service center
industry began to experience both growth in sales volume and increases in prices.  While metals prices for most of calendar 2003 were volatile
due to competitive pressures and changes in availability of inventories held by service centers or supplied by both domestic and foreign mills, a
combination of factors, including improved industrial demand, favorable exchange rates for exporting companies (unfavorable exchange rates
for importers of metals), continued low interest rates, and recent price increases and added surcharges from mills because of higher raw material
costs and higher capacity utilization, resulted in strong growth in the metals service center industry that began during the last calendar quarter of
2003.  Both prices and surcharges have continued to rise and demand for metals products has remained strong since the beginning of calendar
2004.  For example, the price of unleaded cold finished carbon bar was $797 per ton at March 31, 2004, up 17% (including a 10% surcharge)
from $680 per ton at March 31, 2003.

Our tonnage shipped during fiscal 2004 was 9.6% higher compared to fiscal 2003 levels, with strong growth in our fourth fiscal quarter, due to
increasing demand and from success in gaining market share, particularly in Canada.  We believe we are gaining market share through our core
products strategies and excellent customer service, and beginning in July 2002, from significant benefits realized from the expansion and
automation of our Chicago facility.

Pricing for our products can have a more significant impact on our results of operation than customer demand levels. As pricing increases, so do
our revenue dollars. Our pricing usually increases when the cost of our materials increase. We attempt to obtain the same gross profit percentage
on our sales, so if prices increase and we are successful in maintaining the same gross profit percentage, we generate higher levels of gross profit
dollars. Conversely, if pricing declines, we will typically generate lower levels of gross profit dollars. Because changes in pricing do not require
us to adjust our expense structure, the impact on our results of operations is greater than the effect of volume changes.

During fiscal 2004, we continued to focus on improving our business processes, including the development or enhancement of systems that
enable us to reduce costs and increase productivity related to order processing and scheduling, inventory processing and handling.  For fiscal
2004, our gross margins were 27.5% versus 28.4% in fiscal 2003 and 28.3% in fiscal 2002, while our operating margins in fiscal 2004 were
6.7%, when compared to 5.6% in fiscal 2003 and 5.6% in fiscal 2002. Exclusive of a $12.3 million loss on early termination of debt, in fiscal
2003 our operating margin was 6.9%. The decline in gross margin in fiscal 2004 was attributable to a $14.3 million LIFO charge, compared to a
$3.4 million LIFO credit in fiscal 2003. During fiscal 2004, our average total number of employees decreased to 1,628 from 1,706 in fiscal 2003
and 1,805 in fiscal 2002.

Statement of Operations Information

The following table sets forth certain of our consolidated statement of operations data. The historical financial data for the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 are derived from the historical financial statements included elsewhere herein.

Year Ended March 31,

2002 % 2003 % 2004 %

(dollars in thousands)
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Statement of Operations
Data:
Revenues $ 895,058 100.0% $ 919,927 100.0% $ 1,040,367 100.0%
Gross profit 253,067 28.3 261,365 28.4 286,101 27.5
Operating expenses exclusive
of non-recurring charges 200,933 22.4 210,277 22.9 216,629 20.8
Restructuring and other
non-recurring charges 1,861 0.2 � 0.0 � 0.0
Income from operations 50,273 5.6 51,088 5.6 69,472 6.7
Net interest expense 42,545 4.8 47,206 5.1 51,093 4.9
Net income 5,354 0.6 2,382 0.3 15,252 1.5
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Results of Operations�Year ended March 31, 2004 compared to year ended March 31, 2003

Revenues.    Revenues for fiscal 2004 increased 13.1% to $1,040.4 million, compared to $919.9 million in fiscal 2003.
Revenues from our domestic operations increased 12.1% to $970.4 million in fiscal 2004, compared to $865.5 million
in fiscal 2003 primarily as the result of an increase in tonnage shipped.  The increase in tonnage shipped by our
domestic operations was attributable to increased demand for our products sold to customers in certain key industries
we serve, including oil, gas and energy, fluid power and machine tooling, particularly during the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2004. Revenues also increased in fiscal 2004 because prices for product we sold during fiscal 2004 were higher
than fiscal 2003.  Revenues from our Canadian operations for fiscal 2004 increased 28.7% to $70.0 million compared
to $54.4 million in fiscal 2003 due to increased capacity and efficiencies from new facilities, effective marketing of
core products and services, overall improved economic conditions and favorable currency conversion rates.

Gross Profit.    Gross profit increased 9.4% to $286.1 million in fiscal 2004, compared to $261.4 million in fiscal 2003.
Gross margin decreased to 27.5% when compared to 28.4% in fiscal 2003. Fiscal 2004 included a LIFO charge of
$14.3 compared to a $3.4 credit in 2003. Gross profit and gross margin from our Canadian operations were $17.9
million and 25.6% in fiscal 2004 compared to $11.6 million and 21.3% in fiscal 2003. Exclusive of our Canadian
operations and LIFO, gross margin increased to 29.1% in fiscal 2004, when compared to 28.5% in fiscal 2003; due to
successful gross margin initiatives.

Expenses.    Total operating expenses were $216.6 million, or 20.8% of revenues in fiscal 2004, compared to $210.3
million, or 22.9% of revenues in fiscal 2003.  Fiscal 2003 includes a loss of $12.3 million resulting from early
termination of debt. Excluding the loss on early termination of debt, the increase in operating expenses generally
reflects the changes in variable expenses impacted by higher tonnage shipped and added capacity, including utilities,
maintenance, fuel and freight. In addition, fiscal 2004 included higher costs for healthcare and workers compensation
insurance, selling and management incentives and professional services, offset by income attributable to our
corporate-owned life insurance programs and gains on sale of surplus properties. The increase in professional services
was primarily attributable to accounting, legal and financial advisory fees in connection with the proposed merger and
financial restructuring.

Warehouse and delivery expenses increased $8.3 million (6.5%) to $135.4 million in fiscal 2004, compared to $127.1 million in fiscal 2003. As
a percent of revenues, warehouse and delivery expenses were 13.0% in fiscal 2004, compared to 13.8% in fiscal 2003. The increase in these
expenses was attributable to higher costs for healthcare and workers compensation insurance and increased expenses for utilities, maintenance,
fuel and freight. As of March 31, 2004, warehouse and delivery activities employed 997 employees, compared to 1,020 as of March 31, 2003.

Selling expenses increased $6.0 million (18.6%) to $38.3 million in fiscal 2004, compared to $32.3 million in fiscal 2003, and increased as a
percent of revenues to 3.7% from 3.5% in fiscal 2003. The increase in selling expenses was attributable to higher accruals for incentive
compensation due to rapid growth in revenue and gross profit in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, and higher healthcare insurance
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General and administrative expenses, excluding loss on early retirement of debt of $12.3 million in fiscal 2003, increased $4.4 million (11.4%)
to $43.0 million in fiscal 2004, compared to $38.6 million in fiscal 2003. As a percentage of revenues, these expenses were 4.1% in fiscal year
2004 and 4.2% in fiscal 2003. The increase in general and administrative expenses was attributable to higher healthcare and casualty and
liability insurance, increase in professional services and higher accruals for management incentives, offset by higher income recognized in
connection with our life insurance policies, currency exchange gains and gains on sale of surplus property.

Net Interest Expense.    Net interest expense was $51.1 million in fiscal 2004 and $47.2 million in fiscal 2003. Such
amounts include interest related to our long-term debt and borrowings against the cash surrender value of
corporate-owned life insurance policies we maintain, and the amortization of debt issue costs ($1.3 million in fiscal
2004 and $1.4 million in fiscal 2003).

During fiscal 2004 the average outstanding indebtedness (excluding borrowings against the cash surrender value of certain life insurance
policies) was $361.0 million versus $355.5 million in fiscal 2003. The weighted-average interest rate on such indebtedness during fiscal 2004
was 7.97% versus 8.01% in fiscal 2003. The average borrowings under our credit facility in fiscal 2004 increased to $104.3 million from $96.4
million in fiscal 2003, and the average interest rate decreased to 4.19% from 4.65% in fiscal 2003. The increase in average borrowings is
reflective of the increased demand and pricing for products we sell. Average inventory during fiscal 2004 increased to $211.3 million (6.1%)
compared to $199.1 million in fiscal 2003.

14

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form 10-K

30



The outstanding borrowings against the cash surrender value of life insurance policies were $182.6 million at March 31, 2004 and $165.0
million at March 31, 2003, and the total interest expense on such borrowings increased to $20.1 million in fiscal 2004 compared to $17.8 million
in fiscal 2003. Such increases resulted primarily from borrowings of $17.7 million against the increased cash surrender value of life insurance
policies in November 2003 to pay annual premiums on such policies and to pay interest on previous borrowings (see ��Liquidity and Capital
Resources� below). As specified in the terms of the insurance policies, the rates for dividends payable on the policies correspondingly increase
when borrowings are outstanding under the policies. This increase in dividends is greater than the increase in the associated interest expense.
Dividend income earned under the policies was $17.8 million in fiscal 2004, $17.2 million in fiscal 2003 and $13.5 million in fiscal 2002 and is
reported as an offset to general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

The interest rates on our existing senior secured notes and our life insurance policy borrowings are fixed at 9.75% and 11.76%, respectively. The
interest rate on our credit facility is a floating rate (3.74% as of March 31, 2004).

Results of Operations�Year ended March 31, 2003 compared to year ended March 31, 2002

Revenues.    Revenues for fiscal 2003 increased 2.8% to $919.9 million, compared to $895.1 million in fiscal 2002.
Revenues from our domestic operations increased 1.7% to $865.5 million in fiscal 2003, compared to $851.4 million
in fiscal 2002 as the result of an increase in tonnage shipped.  The increase in tonnage shipped by our domestic
operations was attributable to increased demand for our products sold to customers in certain key industries we serve,
including machine tooling and products, metal fabrication and wholesale, fluid power, and transportation, particularly
during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. Prices for product we sold during fiscal 2003 were not significantly affected
by Section 201 tariffs.  Revenues from our Canadian operations increased 24.5% to $54.4 million compared to $43.7
million in fiscal 2002 due to increased capacity and efficiencies from new facilities, effective marketing of core
products and services and overall improved economic conditions.

Gross Profit.    Gross profit increased 3.3% to $261.4 million in fiscal 2003, compared to $253.1 million in fiscal 2002.
Gross margin improved to 28.4% when compared to 28.3% in fiscal 2002. Fiscal 2003 included a LIFO credit of $3.4
million compared to a charge of $0.6 million in fiscal 2002. Gross profit and gross margin from our Canadian
operations were $11.6 million and 21.3% in fiscal 2003 compared to $9.5 million and 21.7% in fiscal 2002. Exclusive
of our Canadian operations and LIFO, gross margin decreased to 28.5% in fiscal 2003, when compared to 28.7% in
fiscal 2002; the decrease was attributable to a 1% increase in material costs, competitive pricing pressures, and
changes in customer and product mixes.

Expenses.    Total operating expenses, exclusive of non-recurring charges, were $198.0 million, or 21.5% of revenues in
fiscal 2003, compared to $200.9 million, or 22.4% of revenues in fiscal 2002.  The majority of our operating expenses
is variable and fluctuates with changes in tonnage shipped. During fiscal 2003, expenses related to warehouse and
delivery activities increased as a result of higher volumes shipped and from costs associated with added capacity. 
However, these costs were offset by income attributable to our life insurance programs and adjustments to workers
compensation reserves.  The non-recurring charges in fiscal 2002 totaling $1.9 million were associated with workforce
reductions and costs incurred in connection with facility consolidations.
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Warehouse and delivery expenses increased $2.6 million (2.1%) to $127.1 million in fiscal 2003, compared to $124.5 million in fiscal 2002. As
a percent of revenues, warehouse and delivery expenses were 13.8% in fiscal 2003, compared to 13.9% in fiscal 2002. The increase in these
expenses was attributable to higher depreciation, property tax accruals and insurance costs, increased equipment lease and maintenance
expenses, and higher freight and utilities costs.  Some of the increase in these costs and expenses is attributable to the expansion and automation
of our Chicago facility, which became operational in July 2002.  As of March 31, 2003, warehouse and delivery activities employed 1,020
employees, compared to 1,055 as of March 31, 2002.

Selling expenses increased $0.4 million (1.3%) to $32.3 million in fiscal 2003, compared to $31.9 million in fiscal 2002, and decreased as a
percent of revenues to 3.5% from 3.6% in fiscal 2002. The increase in selling expenses was attributable to higher accruals for incentive
compensation based on revenue and gross profit levels.

General and administrative expenses, excluding non-recurring charges, decreased $5.9 million (13.3%) to $38.6 million in fiscal 2003, compared
to $44.5 million in fiscal 2002. As a percentage of revenues, these expenses were 4.2% in fiscal year 2003 and 5.0% in fiscal 2002. The decrease
in general and administrative expenses was attributable to higher income recognized in connection with our life insurance policies, lower
reserves required for workers compensation claims, and lower professional services and relocation expenses, offset by higher compensation
expense, including accruals for management incentives, and higher provisions for bad debt.  Non-recurring charges of $1.9
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million included in fiscal 2002 were associated with workforce reductions and costs incurred in connection with facility consolidations.

Loss on Early Retirement of Debt.  We recognized loss on early retirement of debt of $12.3 million in connection with the
early retirement of our 9½% senior notes and term loan, which consisted of the call premium paid, a payment to
terminate the interest rate swap agreement, the write-off of deferred financing costs, and certain other expenses
incurred in connection with the refinancing transaction.  No tax benefit was recorded in connection with this loss due
to the uncertainty in realizing the resulting deferred tax asset.

Net Interest Expense.    Net interest expense was $47.2 million in fiscal 2003 and $42.5 million in fiscal 2002. Such
amounts include interest on our credit facilities, senior secured notes, senior notes, term loan, industrial revenue
bonds, borrowings against the cash surrender value of certain life insurance policies, and the amortization of debt
issue costs ($1.4 million in fiscal 2003 and $1.8 million in fiscal 2002).

During fiscal 2003 the average outstanding indebtedness (excluding borrowings against the cash surrender value of certain life insurance
policies) was $355.5 million versus $310.5 million in fiscal 2002. The weighted-average interest rate on such indebtedness during fiscal 2003
was 8.01% versus 7.09% in fiscal 2002. The average borrowings under our credit facility in fiscal 2003 decreased to $96.4 million from $99.2
million in fiscal 2002, and the average interest rate decreased to 4.65% from 5.13% in fiscal 2002.

The outstanding borrowings against the cash surrender value of life insurance policies were $165.0 million at March 31, 2003 and $147.3
million at March 31, 2002, and the total interest expense on such borrowings increased to $17.8 million in fiscal 2003 compared to $16.0 million
in fiscal 2002. Such increases resulted primarily from borrowings of $18.6 million against the increased cash surrender value of life insurance
policies in November 2002 to pay annual premiums on such policies and to pay interest on previous borrowings (see ��Liquidity and Capital
Resources� below). As specified in the terms of the insurance policies, the rates for dividends payable on the policies correspondingly increase
when borrowings are outstanding under the policies. This increase in dividends is greater than the increase in the incremental borrowing rate.
Dividend income earned under the policies was $17.2 million in fiscal 2003, $13.5 million in fiscal 2002 and $13.0 million in fiscal 2001 and is
reported as an offset to general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

The interest rates on our existing senior secured notes and our life insurance policy borrowings are fixed at 9.75% and 11.76%, respectively. The
interest rate on our credit facility is a floating rate (4.03% as of March 31, 2003).

Included in fiscal 2002 was $2.2 million of net interest paid in quarterly settlements to Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, or �DBTCA,�
pursuant to our interest rate swap agreement covering a notional amount of $95.0 million under our term loan.  Because the interest rate swap
agreement was terminated in May 2002 in connection with the prepayment of the term loan as part of our senior debt offering, no quarterly
settlements were required in fiscal 2003.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
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Working capital decreased to $139.5 million at March 31, 2004 when compared to $150.2 million at March 31, 2003. The decrease was
attributable to an increase in our accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $55.2 million resulting from increased demand during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2004, offset by higher accounts receivable of $35.8 million and an increase in our inventory of $11.7 million.

Primary sources of cash in fiscal 2004 consisted of funds provided by operations of $29.5 million and proceeds from sale of assets of $1.5
million. Primary uses of cash in fiscal 2004 consisted of (i) capital expenditures of $10.5 million, (ii) dividends to Holding of $5.8 million for
the redemption of stock from retired and terminated employees, and (iii) net payments under the revolving loan agreement of $19.4 million.

Cash generated from operating activities was $29.5 million (2.8% of revenues) in fiscal 2004 compared to $31.0 million (3.4% of revenues) in
fiscal 2003 and $14.5 million (1.6% of revenues) in fiscal 2002.

The redemption of $5.8 million of capital stock from retiring and terminated employees was required by the terms of our stock bonus plan and
by Holding�s Stockholders� Agreement. This amount was lower than the amount paid in fiscal 2003 and lower than the amount paid in fiscal 2002
due to the timing of distributions, the number and mix of shares being purchased and changes in stock prices. We expect that such redemptions
for fiscal 2005 will be similar to those paid in
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fiscal 2004, although the amount or timing of such expenditures is not within our control and there can be no assurance in this regard.

Capital expenditures were $10.5 million in fiscal 2004, $15.3 million in fiscal 2003 and $24.5 million in fiscal 2002. Capital expenditures in
fiscal 2004 were primarily for routine replacement of machinery and equipment, facility improvements and expansions, including the expansion
and automation of our facility in Chicago and the purchase of computer hardware and software. For fiscal 2005, we have planned approximately
$22.1 million of capital expenditures to be financed from internally generated funds and borrowings under our credit facility. Approximately
$12.6 million is for facility improvements and expansions (including a commitment of approximately $8.8 million for the purchase of new or
expanded facilities in Houston, Texas, Wrightsville, Pennsylvania and Birmingham, Alabama) and routine replacement of machinery and
equipment, and $1.5 million is for further additions and enhancements to our management information systems. We have requested an
amendment to the covenants in our credit facility to permit the budgeted capital expenditures that we expect will be granted by our lenders.

As of March 31, 2004 our primary sources of liquidity were available borrowings of approximately $139.8 million under our credit facility,
available borrowings of approximately $10.3 million against certain life insurance policies and internally generated funds. Borrowings under our
credit facility are secured by our domestic inventory and accounts receivable, and future availability under the facility is determined by
prevailing levels of such accounts receivable and inventory. The senior secured notes are secured by a first-priority lien on a substantial portion
of our current and future acquired unencumbered real property, plant and equipment. The life insurance policy loans are secured by the cash
surrender value of the policies and are non-recourse. The interest rate on the life insurance policy loans is 0.5% greater than the dividend income
rate on the policies. As of March 31, 2004, there was approximately $34.7 million of cash surrender value in all life insurance policies
maintained, net of borrowings. In addition, our Canadian subsidiary has available its own credit facilities of up to CAD$9.0 million, including a
revolving credit facility of CAD$5.5 million, a term financial instruments facility of CAD$3.0 million, to be used for hedging foreign currency
and rate fluctuations, and a special credit facility of CAD$0.5 million for letters of guaranty in connection with a lease for our facility in
Toronto. As of March 31, 2004, CAD$2.4 million (USD$1.9 million) was outstanding under the revolving credit facility and a letter of guaranty
for CAD$0.5 million (USD$0.4 million) was issued.  None of the term financial instruments facility was used as of March 31, 2004.

Our ongoing debt service obligations are expected to consist primarily of interest payments under our credit facility, interest payments on our
senior secured notes and principal and interest payments on industrial revenue bonds. As of March 31, 2004, annual principal payments required
by our outstanding industrial revenue bonds indebtedness amount to $2.1 million in fiscal year 2005, $1.2 million in fiscal 2006, $0.7 million in
fiscal years 2007, 2008 and 2009 and $0.7 million in the aggregate thereafter through fiscal year 2010. We will not be required to make any
principal payments on our senior secured notes until their maturity in fiscal 2013. Our credit facility, as amended, will mature in April 2006. Our
credit facility has covenants that require maintenance of minimum working capital and a fixed-charge coverage ratio; and although compliance
with such covenants in the future is largely dependent on the future performance of our company and general economic conditions, for which
there can be no assurance, we expect to be in compliance with all of our debt covenants for the foreseeable future.

The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of March 31, 2004. Certain of these contractual obligations are reflected on
our balance sheet, while others are disclosed as future obligations.

Payments Due By Period

Contractual Obligations Total
Fiscal
2005

Fiscal
2006

Fiscal
2007

Fiscal
2008

Fiscal
2009 Thereafter

Long-term debt $ 309,738 $ 3,976 $ 1,215 $ 52,392 $ 715 $ 715 $ 250,725
Capital lease obligations � � � � � � �
Operating leases (a) 100,054 18,422 14,315 10,323 7,337 5,718 43,939
Purchase obligations � � � � � � �
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Other long-term liabilities
(b) 7,638 875 900 925 950 675 3,313

Total $ 417,430 $ 23,273 $ 16,430 $ 63,640 $ 9,002 $ 7,108 $ 297,977

(a) Excludes sublease income of $7,960, $711, $816, $828, $840, $845 and $3,920 for the above periods, respectively.
(b) Includes estimated annual payments based on prior years trended amounts for postretirement benefits; and; estimated annual payments of

$700 over the next four years and $400 thereafter to meet ERISA minimum pension funding requirements beginning in fiscal 2004.
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We believe our sources of liquidity and capital resources are sufficient to meet all currently anticipated working capital requirements, and all
known commitments and obligations; however, we anticipate that it will be necessary to replace or to refinance all or a portion of our credit
facility and the senior secured notes prior to their scheduled maturities in fiscal years 2006 and 2012, respectively, although there can be no
assurance on what terms, if any, that we would be able to obtain such refinancing or additional financing. Our ability to make interest payments
on our credit facility and our notes will be dependent on maintaining the level of performance reflected in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements, which will be dependent on a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control, and the continued availability of
revolving credit borrowings. Our earnings were sufficient to cover fixed charges for fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The currency used by our foreign subsidiaries is the applicable local currency. Exchange adjustments resulting from foreign currency
transactions are recognized in net earnings, and adjustments resulting from the translation of financial statements are included in accumulated
other comprehensive loss within stockholder�s equity. We do not expect to hedge our exposure to foreign currency fluctuations in the foreseeable
future. Net foreign currency transaction gains or losses have not been material in any of the periods presented.  See �Item 1. Business�Foreign
Operations.�

Inflation

Our operations have not been, nor are they expected to be, materially affected by inflation. Historically, we have been successful in adjusting
prices to our customers to reflect changes in metal prices.

Critical Accounting Policies

Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Position and Results Of Operations discusses our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  The preparation of these financial statements requires
management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities.  Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates and judgments under different assumptions and
conditions.  Management believes the critical accounting policies and areas that require the most significant judgments and estimates to be used
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory reserves, pension
and other postretirement benefits, insurance reserves, incentive compensation, contingencies and income tax accounting.  There have been no
material changes made to the critical accounting policies during the periods presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Management has discussed the development and selection of the critical accounting policies described below with the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors, and the Audit Committee has reviewed the Company�s disclosure relating to critical accounting policies in this Management�s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Revenue Recognition
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We recognize revenue when products are shipped to our customers, title has passed and collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenues are shown
net of returns and allowances, which historically have been less than 0.2% of gross revenues.

Accounts Receivable and Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts due to us from our normal business activities. Allowances for doubtful accounts are
established based on estimates of losses related to customer receivable balances.  Estimates are developed by using formulas or standard
quantitative measures based on accounts aging, historical losses (adjusted for current economic conditions) and, in some cases, evaluating
specific customer accounts for risk of loss. The establishment of reserves requires the use of judgment and assumptions regarding the potential
for losses on receivable balances.  Our provision for estimated losses and our write-offs for doubtful accounts recorded during each of the three
fiscal years ended March 31, 2004 was less than 0.5% of the respective years� annual revenues.  However, significant changes in economic
conditions in specific markets in which we operate could have a material effect on required reserve balances.
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Inventory Reserves

Inventories largely consist of raw material purchased in bulk quantities from various mill suppliers to be sold to our customers. An allowance for
excess inventory is maintained to reflect the expected unsaleability of specific inventory items based on condition, recent sales activity and
projected market demand, and has represented less than 2% of our total inventory as of March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004.

Pension and Postretirement Benefits

Our pension and postretirement benefit costs and credits are developed from actuarial valuations. Inherent in these valuations are key
assumptions including discount rates and expected return on plan assets. We are required to consider current market conditions, including
changes in interest rates, in selecting these assumptions. Changes in the related pension and postretirement benefit costs or credits may occur in
the future due to changes in the assumptions, in addition to changes resulting from fluctuations in our related headcount. In fiscal 2004 we
committed to make additional annual contributions of $700,000 to our Hourly Employee Pension Plan commencing in fiscal 2005 as a result of
changes in assumptions.

Insurance Reserves

Our insurance for worker�s compensation, general liability, vehicle liability and health care are effectively self-insured. A third-party
administrator is used to process all such claims. Claims for worker�s compensation are used, along with other factors, by our third-party
administrator to establish reserves required to cover our worker�s compensation liability.  We also maintain reserves to cover expected medical
claims to be paid subsequent to the end of a plan year or upon termination of the plan. Our reserves associated with the exposure to these
self-insured liabilities are reviewed by management and third-party actuaries for adequacy at the end of each reporting period.

Incentive Compensation

Management incentive plans are tied to various financial performance metrics. Bonus accruals made throughout the year based on management�s
best estimate of the achievement of the specific financial metrics. Adjustments to the accruals are made on a quarterly basis as forecasts of
financial performance are updated. At year-end, the accruals are adjusted to reflect the actual results achieved.

Contingencies

We are subject to proceedings, lawsuits and other claims related to environmental, labor, product and other matters. We assess the likelihood of
any adverse judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A determination of the amount of reserves
required, if any, for these contingencies are made after careful analysis of each individual issue. The required reserves may change in the future
due to new developments in each matter or changes in approach such as a change in settlement strategy in dealing with these matters.
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Income Taxes

We estimate our current tax liability after considering our temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such as
depreciation, for tax and accounting purposes. These temporary differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities. We then assess the
likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we
will establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we establish a valuation allowance or increase this allowance in a period, we will include and
expense the allowance within the tax provision in the statement of operations.  Significant management judgment is required in determining our
provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets.

Item 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the ordinary course of business, we are exposed to various market risk factors caused by changes in commodity prices, interest rates and
foreign currency exchange rates.  We do not use financial instruments or enter into hedging transactions for speculative or trading purposes with
respect to managing these market risks.  However, we have used and will continue to evaluate the use of financial instruments to reduce our
exposure to higher interest costs during periods of rising interest rates.
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At March 31, 2004 and March 31, 2003, no financial instruments existed; at March 31, 2002, our only financial instrument was a fixed rate
interest rate swap agreement covering $95.0 million of our Term Loans, which was terminated in connection with the repayment of the Term
Loans during fiscal 2003.  See �Item 7.  Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations�.  Our exposure
to changing interest rates is limited to our revolving credit facility such that our results of operations and cash flows during fiscal 2004 would
have been impacted by approximately $1.0 million for each 1% increase or decrease in the applicable interest rate.

Our exposure to market risk for changes in foreign currency exchange rates is limited to our Canadian operations and the Canadian dollar. We
estimate that a 10% change in the average exchange rate of the Canadian dollar during fiscal 2004 would have impacted our results of operations
by approximately $0.4 million. Due to our product mix and the frequency of our buying and selling activities over normal business cycles, our
exposure to changes in commodity prices is not considered material.

Item 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Financial statements and supplementary data required by this Item 8 are set forth as indicated in Item 15(a)(1) and (2) below.

Item 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

As of the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation was carried out by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
with the assistance of other members of management, of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 15d-14(c)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that,
as of the period covered by this report, the disclosure controls and procedures were effective in ensuring that all material information required to
be disclosed by the Company in the reports filed or furnished by us under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, was gathered,
analyzed and reported or otherwise made known to them and other members of management, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.

There have been no significant changes in our internal controls, or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls, subsequent to the
date the evaluation was completed.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company has engaged an independent contractor to review its systems of disclosure controls and procedures,
including internal control over financial reporting, in preparation for management�s assessment and the independent auditor�s attestation regarding
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2004, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.  Such review is ongoing and the work of the contractor is being reviewed and monitored by the Audit Committee of our Board of
Directors.

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Chief Executive Officer, as principal executive officer, and our Chief Financial Officer as our senior
financial officer pursuant to Section 406 of the Sarbanes�Oxley Act of 2002.  We filed such code of ethics document as Exhibit 10.22 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 and will provide a copy to any person without charge upon written
request to our Secretary.  We have also established a confidential hotline to allow persons to report, without fear of retaliation, any inappropriate
acts or omissions affecting our financial statements, internal controls and accounting policies or practices.

PART III

Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth the name, age (at March 31, 2004), principal occupation and business experience of each of our directors and
executive officers. Holding�s directors and executive officers are identical to ours. The executive officers serve at the pleasure of the board of
directors of EMJ and Holding, respectively.

Each member of our board of directors holds office until the next annual meeting of the stockholders or until his successor is elected and
qualified. The election of Holding�s directors is subject to the provisions of a stockholders� agreement described below.  During fiscal 2004, the
board of directors had four regular meetings and one special meeting.

There are no family relationships among our directors and executive officers. For information regarding the stock ownership of Holding by our
directors and executive officers, we refer you to �Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.�

From 1998 through 2001, each non-officer director other than Messrs. Schuchert and Nickell was granted options to purchase 10,000 shares of
Holding Common Stock at their fair market value as established by the most recent appraisal available at the date of grant. These options are
fully vested.  Beginning April 1, 2002, we changed our policies on compensation for directors so that each of our non-officer directors now
receives an annual retainer of $20,000, payable quarterly. Effective April 1, 1997, April 1, 1998, April 1, 1999, April 1, 2000 and April 1, 2001,
in consideration for his service as a director, Chairman of the Executive Committee and Chairman of the Board, Mr. Roderick was granted
options to purchase 20,000 shares of Holding Common Stock, in each case at their fair market value as established by the most recent appraisal
available at the date of the grant. These options are fully vested. Beginning April 1, 2002,  as a result of our changed policies, Mr. Roderick now
receives an annual retainer of $30,000, payable quarterly.  Beginning April 1, 2005, we increased the annual retainer for the
Chairman of the Audit Committee to $25,000, payable quarterly.

In addition, all non-officer directors are reimbursed for all approved out-of-pocket expenses related to meetings they attend. Our directors
receive no additional compensation for their services as directors of Holding. Our officers who serve as directors do not receive compensation
for their services as directors other than the compensation they receive as officers.
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Name Age Position

David M. Roderick 80 Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Executive Committee and Director

Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. 66 President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer, Director and Member of the
Executive Committee

R. Neil McCaffery 54 Executive Vice President

William S. Johnson 46 Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) and
Secretary

Frank D. Travetto 51 Vice President, Merchandising

Kenneth L. Henry 57 Vice President

James D. Hoffman 45 Vice President

William A. Marquard 84 Director and Member of the Audit Committee

Earl L. Mason 56 Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee

Frank T. Nickell 56 Director and Member of the Executive Committee

John Rutledge 55 Director and Member of the Audit Committee

David I. Wahrhaftig 47 Director

David M. Roderick.    Mr. Roderick became Chairman of the Board of EMJ and Holding on January 21, 1998. Mr.
Roderick has also served as Chairman of the Executive Committee of EMJ and Holding since February 1, 1997. Mr.
Roderick has been a director of EMJ and Holding since January 1994. Mr. Roderick also serves as a director of
Citation and Kelso & Companies, Inc. Previously, Mr. Roderick served as a director of American Standard
Companies, Inc. and as Director, Chairman, and Chief Executive Officer of the USX Corporation. Mr. Roderick
joined USX in 1959, was Chairman of USX Finance Committee and a Director from 1973 to 1975, was President and
Director from 1975 until 1979 and was Chief Executive Officer and Chairman from 1979 to 1989.

Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.    Mr. Nelson was elected President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer and a
director of EMJ and Holding effective February 1, 1997. Before that, Mr. Nelson served as President, Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Operating Officer of Inland Steel Company from 1992 until April 1996. Before that, Mr. Nelson
was the President of the Aerospace and Commercial division of the Aluminum Company of America (Alcoa) from
1987 to 1992.

R. Neil McCaffery.    Mr. McCaffery has been our Executive Vice President since March 2001. Before that, Mr.
McCaffery was our Vice President Western Region since March 1997 and our Vice President Southern Region since
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April 1996.

William S. Johnson.    Mr. Johnson has been our Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and Secretary since
January 1999. Before that, Mr. Johnson was EMJ�s Controller since February 1995 and was EMJ�s Assistant Controller
since February 1994. Prior to that, Mr. Johnson was the Corporate Finance Manager for Severin Montres, Ltd. since
1991. Severin Montres, Ltd., owned by Gucci Group N.V., was the manufacturer and distributor of Gucci watches.

Frank D. Travetto.    Mr. Travetto has been our Vice President Merchandising since March 1997. Before that, Mr.
Travetto was EMJ�s Vice President Western Region since 1996, EMJ�s Vice President Eastern Region from 1992 to
1996, and EMJ�s Division President, Canadian Operations from 1990 to 1992.

Kenneth L. Henry.    Mr. Henry has been our Executive Vice President responsible for operating our Dallas, Houston and
Tulsa facilities since July, 2003. Before that, Mr Henry was our Vice President responsible for operating our Chicago
and Quad Cities facilities since January 1998. Before that, Mr. Henry was EMJ�s Vice President Central Region since
1995. Before that, Mr. Henry was our Vice President Southern Region since 1992, and Vice President of the
Kilsby-Roberts Division of EMJ from April 1990 to 1992.

James D. Hoffman.    Mr. Hoffman has been our Vice President since March 2001 and has been responsible for operations
of our Cleveland, Indianapolis and Cincinnati facilities since March 2001. Before that, Mr. Hoffman was our Vice
President Eastern Region since July 1996. Before that, Mr. Hoffman was District Manager for our Cleveland and
Buffalo operations since June 1992.
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William A. Marquard.    Mr. Marquard has been a director of EMJ since March 1990, and a director of Holding since May
1990. Mr. Marquard also serves as a director and Chairman of the Board of Arkansas Best Corporation, as a director
of Kelso & Companies, Inc., and as a director of InfraReDx, Inc.

Earl L. Mason.    Mr. Mason has been a director of EMJ and Holding since January 2002. Mr. Mason retired from
Alliant Exchange (formerly the distribution business of Kraft Foods), after serving as Chief Executive Officer and
President since April 1999. Before that, Mr. Mason was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Compaq
Computer Corporation from May 1996 to April 1999 and held the position of Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Inland Steel Industries from June 1991 to May 1996. Mr. Mason also served as Group Executive
of Digital Equipment Corporation from June 1990 to June 1991 and as Chief Financial Officer of its European
subsidiary from October 1987 to June 1990, and held various positions over 15 years at AT&T Corporation. Mr.
Mason is also a director of Computer Horizons Corporation. Mr. Mason previously served as a director of the Eye
Ticket Corporation.

Frank T. Nickell.    Mr. Nickell has served as director of EMJ and Holding since August 1993. He has been President and
a director of Kelso & Companies, Inc. since March 1989 and Chief Executive Officer of Kelso & Companies, Inc.
since September 1997. Kelso & Companies, Inc. is the general partner of Kelso & Company. He is also a director of
The Bear Stearns Companies Inc. and BlackRock, Inc.

John Rutledge.    Dr. Rutledge has been a director of EMJ and Holding since June 1992. Dr. Rutledge is the founder of
Rutledge & Company, Inc., a merchant banking firm, and has been Chairman since January 1991. He is the founder of
Claremont Economics Institute, and has been its chairman since January 1979. Dr. Rutledge is also a director of The
Amerindo Fund and CROM Corporation.

David I. Wahrhaftig. Mr. Wahrhaftig has been a director of EMJ and Holding since July 2003. Mr. Wahrhaftig has been a
Managing Director of Kelso & Company and a director of Kelso & Companies, Inc. since April 1997, after joining the
firm in 1987. Mr. Wahrhaftig is also a director of Endo Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and BWAY Corporation.

Committees of the Board

Our By-Laws specifically provide that the Board may delegate responsibility to committees.  During fiscal 2004, the Board had two standing
committees: an Audit Committee and an Executive Committee.  In connection with the proposed merger and financial restructing, Holding
created a Special Committee to evaluate and negotiate a transaction on behalf of the stockholders other than Kelso. In fiscal 2004, the Audit
Committee met four (4) times, the Executive Committee did not meet and the Special Committee met eight (8) times.
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Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee (Messrs.  Mason (Chairman), Marquard and Rutledge) are non-employee directors and, except for Mr.
Marquard (who may be deemed to be affiliated with Kelso), are �independent� as defined in the listing standards for the
New York Stock Exchange.  Based on Mr. Mason�s background and experience, our Board determined that he meets
the definition of �financial expert� as required under Section 407 of the Sarbanes�Oxley Act of 2002 in connection with
his services on the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee and our Board have adopted a written charter (filed as Exhibit 10.22  to this report) under which the Audit Committee
serves the Company�s Board of Directors by providing oversight functions include:

�  selecting, evaluating and, where appropriate, replacing the outside auditor;

�  pre-approving all auditing services and permissible non-audit services provided to the company by the outside
auditor;

�  reviewing with the outside auditor and with management the proposed scope of the annual audit, past audit
experience, the company�s program for the internal examination and verification of its accounting records and the
results of recently completed internal examinations;

�  reviewing any significant disagreements between management and the outside auditor in connection with the
preparation of the financial statements; and

�  discussing the quality and adequacy of the company�s internal controls with management, the internal auditors
and the outside auditor.
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The Audit Committee shall meet at least four times per year to carry out its responsibilities, including once to review the audit plan of the
internal auditor, once to review the audit plan of the principal accountant, once to review the annual financial statements prior to issuance, and
once to review the post-audit findings of the internal and independent auditors.

The Audit Committee has received reports and met and held discussions with management and the independent auditors.  The Audit Committee
has reviewed and discussed our audited financial statements with management.  The Audit Committee has discussed with the independent
auditors the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (as amended), SEC rules and other standards.  The
Audit Committee has received the written disclosures and letter from the independent auditors pursuant to Rule 3600T of the Public Company
Oversight Board, which adopts on an interim basis Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, and has discussed with the independent
auditors the independent auditor�s independence.

Based upon the Audit Committee�s review of our consolidated financial statements, their discussions with management and the independent
auditors, and the representation of management that such financial statements were prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, the Audit Committee recommended that such financial
statements be included in this Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2004.

The Executive Committee

The members of the Executive Committee are Messrs. Roderick (Chairman), Nickell and Nelson.  The Executive Committee was delegated the
authority to take any action that could be taken by the Board to the maximum extent permitted by Delaware General Corporation Law.  The
Executive Committee did not meet or take any action by written consent in fiscal 2004.

Special Committee

The Special Committee was formed by Holding�s board of directors to evaluate, negotiate and implement a restructuring of Holding.  The
committee consists of two directors, Messrs. Mason and Nelson, who are independent of Kelso.  The Special Committee met eight (8) times in
fiscal 2004 and its members had extensive discussions apart from such meetings with its financial advisor and legal counsel.

Stockholders� Agreement

Our By-laws provide for one to ten directors. Our board of directors currently consists of seven directors. Certain of Holding�s shareholders have
agreed, pursuant to the Stockholders� Agreement, dated as of September 14, 1990, as amended, or the �Stockholders� Agreement,� that two directors
will be designated by the Management Stockholders (as defined in the Stockholders� Agreement), so long as they are reasonably acceptable to
Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P., or �KIA IV,� an affiliate of Kelso & Company, and that at least five directors will be designated by KIA IV.
Mr. Nelson has been designated by the Management Stockholders. In addition, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock of Holding are entitled to
designate one director pursuant to the terms of the Series A Preferred Stock and Mr. Mason is currently serving in that capacity. The
Stockholders� Agreement also provides that in the event of termination of employment, under certain circumstances, each Management
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Stockholder is entitled to sell, and Holding can require such a Management Stockholder to sell, their shares of Holding Common Stock to
Holding at their appraised Fair Market Value (as defined in the Stockholders� Agreement). The Stockholders� Agreement expires on March 24,
2008.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth compensation for the three fiscal years ended March 31, 2004 for our Chief Executive Officer and our four most
highly compensated executive officers as of March 31, 2004. Our officers receive no additional compensation for their services as officers of
Holding.
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Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation
Long-Term

Compensation Awards

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus(1)
Securities Underlying
Stock Options/SAR(2)

All Other
Compensation(3)

Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. 2004 $ 551,326 $ 452,504 �$ 55,500
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Operating Officer 2003 555,762 374,388 � 52,049

2002 555,762 270,738 � 47,150

Frank D. Travetto 2004 245,987 172,491 � 25,769
Vice President, Merchandising 2003 244,460 142,714 10,000 25,273

2002 238,070 99,659 10,000 23,233

Kenneth L. Henry 2004 245,171 177,187 � 28,714
Executive Vice President 2003 235,442 136,161 10,000 27,355

2002 226,978 94,921 10,000 25,397

R. Neil McCaffery 2004 223,316 156,650 � 22,440
Executive Vice President 2003 220,960 129,608 10,000 20,418

2002 212,600 90,182 10,000 18,220

James D. Hoffman 2004 224,975 156,650 � 21,552
Vice President 2003 222,497 129,608 10,000 19,588

2002 214,137 90,182 10,000 17,313

(1) Amounts reflect cash compensation earned by executive officers in each of the fiscal years presented, including amounts received after
fiscal year end, or deferred at the election of those officers. Bonus amounts include a cash bonus payable pursuant to our Management
Incentive Compensation Plan, which became effective April 1, 1997.

(2) Holding has granted executive officers options to purchase shares of Holding Common Stock at their fair market value on the date of
grant. Mr. Nelson�s options have an exercise price of $5.41 per share; options granted to Messrs. Travetto, Henry, McCaffery and
Hoffman in fiscal years 2003 and 2002 have an exercise price of $7.78 and $8.16  per share, respectively. See �Holding Stock Option Plan�
and �Stock Option Grants Table� below for further information.

(3) Amounts shown include allocations to the accounts of each of the named officers of contributions made by us to our stock bonus plan and
to our 401(a)(17) Supplemental Contribution Plan (�401(a)(17) Plan�) and of premiums paid by us for long-term disability and life
insurance policies. The following allocations were made in fiscal 2004 for Messrs. Nelson, Travetto, Henry, McCaffery and Hoffman,
respectively (i) 401(a)(17) Plan�$40,126, $10,855, $10,888, $8,940 and $8,940; (ii) long term disability�$4,668, $3,745, $6,779, $3,006
and $2,318; (iii) life insurance�$706, $1,169, $1,047, $494 and $294. The following allocations were made in fiscal 2003 for Messrs.
Nelson, Travetto, Henry, McCaffery and Hoffman, respectively (i) stock bonus plan�$10,000, $10,000, $10,000, $10,000, and $10,000;
(ii) 401(a)(17) Plan�$36,220, $9,261, $8,372, $7,483 and $7,483; (iii) long term disability�$4,509, $3,745, $6,779, $2,133 and $1,623; (iv)
life insurance�$1,320, $2,267, $2,204, $802 and $482. The following allocations were made in fiscal 2002 for Messrs. Nelson, Travetto,
Henry,  McCaffery and Hoffman, respectively (i) stock bonus plan�$8,500, $8,500, $8,500, $8,500, and $8,500; (ii) 401(a)(17)
Plan�$32,538, $8,180, $7,387, $6,593 and $6,593; (iii) long term disability�$4,509, $3,745, $6,779, $2,133 and $1,623; (iv) life
insurance�$1,603, $2,808, $2,731, $994 and $597. The amounts in respect of life insurance represent the estimated value of the premiums
paid by us on certain disability and life insurance policies covering each executive. Some of the policies are managed on a split-dollar
basis and we will receive the premiums we paid from the proceeds of such insurance. In such cases the amount of the other compensation
attributed to the executive was calculated by treating the premiums paid by us as a demand loan, and the amount of compensation is
equal to the imputed interest expense on the cumulative outstanding premiums paid by us, assuming an interest rate equal to the
short-term federal funds rate, from time to time.
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Holding Stock Option Plan

In fiscal 1998, Holding adopted the Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. Stock Option Plan, as amended, or the �Stock Option Plan.� Our
board of directors or its Executive Committee is authorized to grant options under the Stock Option Plan. No stock options shall be granted
under the Stock Option Plan after the date that is 10 years after the effective date of the Stock Option Plan. Stock options may be granted at not
less than 100% of the fair market value of Holding Common Stock on the date of grant and are generally exercisable for a period not exceeding
ten years. Option grants or the vesting of options may be contingent upon such terms and conditions, such as the achievement of performance
measures or upon the passage of time, as our board or Executive Committee determines. Our board or Executive Committee will make grants
under the Stock Option Plan to provide our executive officers and certain other managers with additional incentives for outstanding individual
performance and the opportunity to acquire an ownership stake in the Company, thereby more closely aligning their interests with those of the
stockholders.

We have the right, if the holders of options agree, to grant replacement options which may contain terms more favorable than the options they
replace, such as a lower exercise price, and cancel the replaced options.

The aggregate number of shares of Holding Common Stock available for grants or subject to outstanding options, and the respective prices
and/or vesting criteria applicable to outstanding options, will be proportionately adjusted to reflect any stock dividend on the Holding Common
Stock, or any recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, exchange of shares, warrants or rights
offering to purchase the Holding Common Stock at a price substantially below its fair market value. To the extent deemed appropriate by our
board or Executive Committee, subject to any required action by the stockholders, in any merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation,
dissolution, or other similar transaction, any option granted under the Stock Option Plan shall pertain to the securities and any other property to
which a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock covered by the option would have been entitled to receive in connection with such
event.
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Upon a change of control of Holding, with certain exceptions, all outstanding stock options (whether or not then fully exercisable or vested) will
be cashed out at specified prices as of the date of the change of control, except that any stock options outstanding for less than six months will
not be cashed out until six months after the applicable date of grant.

Generally, a participant who is granted a stock option will not be subject to federal income tax at the time of grant and we will not be entitled to
a tax deduction by reason of such grant. Upon exercise of a nonqualified option, generally the difference between the option price and the fair
market value of the Holding Common Stock on the date of exercise will be considered ordinary income to the participant and generally we will
be entitled to a corresponding tax deduction.

Upon exercise of an incentive stock option, no taxable income will be recognized by the participant and we are not entitled to a tax deduction by
reason of such exercise. However, if Holding Common Stock purchased pursuant to the exercise of an incentive stock is sold within two years
from the date of grant or within one year after the transfer of such Holding Common Stock to the participant, then the difference, with certain
adjustments, between the fair market value of the Holding Common Stock at the date of exercise and the option price will be considered
ordinary income to the participant and generally we will be entitled to a corresponding tax deduction. If the participant disposes of the Holding
Common Stock after such holding periods, any gain or loss upon such disposition will be treated as a capital gain or loss and we will not be
entitled to a deduction.

T  he maximum number of shares of Holding Common Stock reserved for issuance under the Stock Option Plan is
2,500,000, subject to adjustment as provided in the Stock Option Plan to reflect certain corporate transactions
affecting the number or type of outstanding shares. As of March 31, 2004, there were 2,101,000 options outstanding at
a weighted average exercise price of $5.84 per share.

Stock Option Grants Table

There were no stock options granted in fiscal 2004.

Aggregated Stock Option Exercises and Fiscal Year-End Stock Option Value Table

The following table sets forth certain information concerning stock options exercised during fiscal 2004 by the Chief Executive Officer and our
next four most highly compensated executive officers, and the value of their unexercised stock options as of March 31, 2004.

Aggregate Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

Shares
Acquired on

Value Number of Securities
Underlying Options

Value of In-the-Money
Options at
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at Fiscal Year-End Fiscal Year-End(1)

Name Exercise (#) Realized ($) Exercisable / Unexercisable Exercisable / Unexercisable
Maurice S. Nelson, Jr � � 1,320,000 / � $66,000 / $�
Frank D. Travetto � � 85,000 / 10,000 $� / $�
Kenneth L. Henry � � 85,000 / 10,000 $� / $�
R. Neil McCaffery � � 85,000 / 10,000 $� / $�
James D. Hoffman � � 85,000 / 10,000 $� / $�

(1) Holding is a private company and its stock is not publicly traded. The fair market value of Holding�s common stock underlying the
options shown above is determined annually by a third-party appraiser. The value of in-the-money options shown above was calculated
by subtracting the exercise prices from the most recent appraisal available which was $5.46 per share as of March 31, 2003.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information as of March 31, 2004

(a) (b) (c)

Plan category

Number of securities
to be issued upon

exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-
average exercise

price of outstanding
options, warrants and

rights ($/Sh.)

Number of securities
remaining available

for future issuance under
equity compensation plans

(excluding securities
reflected in column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders(1) 2,101,000 $ 5.84 399,000
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders � � �
Total 2,101,000 $ 5.84 399,000

(1) Includes 180,000 shares granted to non-employee directors under our Stock Option Plan.

Our Stock Bonus Plan

We maintain a stock bonus plan, or the �Plan,� in respect of our nonunion employees who meet certain service requirements. Since April 1, 1999
(when our employee stock ownership plan was amended and became a stock bonus plan), the amount of annual contributions is calculated as a
percentage (as determined by our Board of Directors based on the achievement of EMJ performance objectives) of total cash compensation (as
defined in the Plan) and may be made by us in cash or by Holding in shares of Holding capital stock. Participants become 20% vested in their
account balances after one year of continuous service. Participants vest an additional 20% for each year of service thereafter and become fully
vested at age 65 or upon completion of five years of service, retirement, disability or death. Following the occurrence of a participant�s
termination of service (as defined in the Plan), retirement, disability, or death, the Plan is required to either distribute the vested balance in stock
or cash. If stock is distributed, it is accompanied by a put option to Holding under terms defined in the Plan. At March 31, 2004, shares of
Holding�s Series A and Series B Preferred Stock and Holding Common Stock owned by the Plan totaled 38,282, 28,730, and 2,652,874 shares,
respectively. Series B Preferred Stock shares include dividends accrued for each of the four quarters of fiscal 2004. Dividends for December 31,
2003 and March 31, 2004 of 1,132 and 1,154, respectively, are pending Board of Director approval. A resolution to authorize the issuance of
these dividends will be included in the Company�s Board of Director meeting scheduled on July 29, 2004. For the fiscal years ended March 31,
2002, 2003 and 2004, contributions payable to the Plan totaled $2.8 million, $2.8 million and $2.8 million, respectively. The contributions
payable for fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 have been paid in cash.

Although Holding has not expressed any intent to terminate the Plan, it has the right to terminate or amend the provisions of the Plan at any time.
In the event of any termination, participants become fully vested to the extent of the balances in their separate accounts and receive put options
with respect to Holding stock allocated to their accounts.

In 1984, 1985 and 1986, Kilsby purchased life insurance policies to provide, among other things, a separate source for funds to repurchase
capital stock, including capital stock distributed by the Plan, from departing employees. Certain of these policies allow us to borrow against the
cash surrender value of such policies. As of March 31, 2004, we have borrowed $182.6 million against the cash surrender value of such policies
to fund renewal premiums, accrued interest on previous borrowings and working capital needs. The net cash surrender value available for future
borrowings was approximately $10.3 million as of March 31, 2004. Our credit facility and other resources are also available, subject to certain
limitations, to satisfy stock repurchase obligations as they arise. See �Item 7. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations�Liquidity and Capital Resources.�
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On March 8, 2002, we were sued by the DOL for alleged breaches of fiduciary duty by former members of our benefits committee in relying on
the valuations of our common stock prepared by our independent appraiser and allegedly resulting in prohibited transactions. This matter was
settled in January 2003.  Among other things, the settlement prohibits us from making further common stock contributions to the Plan.  The
DOL has initiated a review of the procedures followed by our benefits committee in connection with evaluation of the proposed transaction and
other strategic alternatives available to Holding and an assessment of whether or not the proposed transaction complied with the terms of the
consent order and the legal requirements applicable to the stock bonus plan.  We refer you to �Item 3. Legal Proceedings.�
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Supplemental Plan

In fiscal 1996, we adopted a supplemental contribution plan, or the �Supplemental Plan,� for contributions not allowed under our Plan pursuant to
limitations of Sections 401(a)(17) and 415 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Participants in the Supplemental Plan include
certain highly compensated employees and other employees who are not eligible to participate in the Plan. Contributions payable, vesting and
distributions under the Supplemental Plan are comparable with those under the Plan. Contributions under the Supplemental Plan are made in
cash and are held in an irrevocable trust. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, contributions payable totaled $0.1 million,
$0.1 million and $0.1 million, respectively.

Management Incentive Compensation Plan

Effective April 1, 1997, we adopted a new Management Incentive Compensation Plan (the �Incentive Plan�). The Incentive Plan provides for
payment of cash bonuses to senior executives and other key management employees based on the achievement of certain operating profit and
cash flow objectives determined by our Board of Directors or Executive Committee. Bonuses awarded are based on a sliding scale based on the
percentage of the objectives achieved. No bonus is payable unless at least 80% of the objectives are achieved, and the maximum bonus would be
awarded for achievement of 150% or more of the established objectives. In addition, our Chief Executive Officer may award bonuses from a
discretionary pool for exemplary service. The board of Directors ratified bonuses pursuant to the Incentive Plan aggregating $4.0 million in
fiscal 2002, $5.6 million in fiscal 2003 and $6.7 million in fiscal 2004.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

David M. Roderick, Frank T. Nickell and Maurice S. Nelson, Jr. are members of the Executive Committee, which serves as our compensation
committee.

Affiliates of Kelso & Company beneficially own shares of the capital stock of Holding as described under �Item 12. Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.� KIA IV holds indebtedness of Holding representing approximately $235.6 million of indebtedness
as of March 31, 2004, including accrued and unpaid interest.Mr. Nickell is a stockholder of Kelso and a general partner of Kelso Partners I, L.P.,
or �KP I,� Kelso Partners III, L.P., or �KP III,� and Kelso Partners IV, L.P., or �KP IV.� KP I, KP III and KP IV are the general partners of Kelso
Investment Associates, Limited Partnership, or �KIA I,� KIA III-Earle M. Jorgensen, L.P., or �KIA III-EMJ� and KIA IV, respectively. Mr. Nickell
is a director of Holding and the Company and shares investment and voting power with respect to shares of the capital stock of Holding held by
KIA I, KIA III-EMJ and KIA IV as described under �Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.�

In connection with the Acquisition, we agreed to pay Kelso & Company an annual fee of $1,250,000 each year for financial advisory services
and to reimburse it for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with rendering such services. However, no such annual fee was payable
for fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 and other expenses paid to Kelso & Company in fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 were not significant. 
Holding has issued to KIA IV two warrants, entitling KIA IV to purchase 2,937,915 shares of Holding Common Stock in the aggregate at a
purchase price of $.01 per share.
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Beginning April 1, 1998, and on each subsequent April 1, ending April 1, 2001, in consideration for his service as a director, Chairman of the
Company�s Executive Committee and Chairman of the Board, the Company granted Mr. Roderick options to purchase 20,000 shares of Holding
Common Stock at a purchase price equal to the fair market value as established by the most recent appraisal available at the date of grant. For
the grants issued April 1, 2000 and 2001, the grant prices were $5.51 per share and $7.31 per share, respectively. From April 1, 2002, Mr.
Roderick has received an annual retainer of $30,000 for such services, payable quarterly.

Item 12.   SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Our Common Stock

All of our issued and outstanding voting stock, consisting of 128 shares of common stock, is owned by Holding.

Capital Stock of Holding

The following table describes the beneficial ownership of shares of Holding Common Stock and Series A Preferred Stock as of March 31, 2004,
by all stockholders of Holding known to be beneficial owners of more than 5% of any such
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class, by each of our directors and executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table and by all directors and executive officers as a
group as determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3(i) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. As of March 31, 2004, 28,747
shares of Series B Preferred Stock of Holding were issued, of which 28,730 were owned by the stock bonus plan.

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner
Number of Shares of
Common Stock

Percentage of
Shares of

Common Stock
Outstanding(a)

Number of Shares
of Series A

Preferred Stock

Percentage of
Shares of Series A
Preferred Stock
Outstanding(b)

Kelso Investment Associates, IV, L.P.(c) 9,462,475(d) 66.0%(d) 0 0.0%

KIA III�Earle M. Jorgensen, L.P.(c) 1,704,740 14.9% 0 0.0%

Joseph S. Schuchert(c) 11,167,215(d)(e) 77.9%(d)(e) 24,519(f) 38.9%(f)

Frank T. Nickell(c) 11,187,714(d)(e) 78.0%(d)(e) 24,519(f) 38.9%(f)

Michael B. Goldberg(c) 9,462,475(d)(e) 66.0%(d)(e) 0 0.0%

George E. Matelich(c) 11,172,215(d)(e) 77.9%(d)(e) 24,519(f) 38.9%(f)

Thomas R. Wall, IV(c) 11,172,215(d)(e) 77.9%(d)(e) 24,519(f) 38.9%(f)

Frank K. Bynum(c) 11,167,215(d)(e) 77.9%(d)(e) 0 0.0%

David I. Wahrhaftig(c) 11,167,215(d)(e) 77.9%(d)(e) 0 0.0%

Philip E. Berney(c) 9,462,475(d)(e) 66.0%(d)(e) 0 0.0%

Maurice S. Nelson(g) 1,320,000(h) 11.6%(h) 0 0.0%

Frank D. Travetto(g) 97,000(h) 0.9%(h) 0 0.0%

Kenneth L. Henry(g) 104,000(h) 0.9%(h) 704 1.1%

R. Neil McCaffery(g) 90,000(h) 0.8%(h) 0 0.0%

James D. Hoffman(g) 85,000(h) 0.7%(h) 0 0.0%

David M. Roderick(g) 134,000(h) 1.2%(h) 0 0.0%

John Rutledge(i) 45,000(h) 0.4%(h) 0 0.0%

William A. Marquard(j) 50,000(h) 0.4%(h) 0 0.0%

Earl L. Mason(g) 0 0.0% 0 0.0%
Earle M. Jorgensen Company Stock Bonus
Plan(g) 2,630,863(k) 23.1%(k) 37,344(k) 59.2%(k)
All directors and executive officers of the
Company as a group 2,099,499(l)(m) 18.4%(l)(m) 704(m) 1.1%(m)

(a) The percentage of shares of Holding Common Stock outstanding for KIA IV, and Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell, Wall, Matelich, Goldberg,
Wahrhaftig, Bynum and Berney was calculated assuming the total outstanding shares of Holding Common Stock was 14,342,775, (i)
including shares of Holding Common Stock which would be outstanding assuming KIA IV exercised the two Warrants referred to in note
(d) below in succession and there have been no other dilution events prior to such exercise and 11,616 shares of Holding common stock
owned by Kelso Equity Partners II, L.P., and (ii) excluding 2,101,000 shares subject to stock options referred to in note (l) below. The
percentage of shares of Holding Common Stock outstanding for all other holders was calculated assuming the total outstanding shares of
Holding Common Stock was 11,404,860, excluding shares subject to stock options and shares issuable upon the exercise of the Warrants
held by KIA IV as of March 31, 2004.

(b) The percentage of shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding was calculated assuming the total outstanding shares of Series A
Preferred Stock was 63,044, excluding 184,502 shares of Series A Preferred Stock held in the Holding treasury as of March 31, 2004.

(c) The business address for such person(s) is c/o Kelso & Company, 320 Park Avenue, 24th Floor, New York, New York, 10022. Kelso &
Company is a private investment firm.

(d) Includes 2,937,915 shares of the Holding Common Stock that KIA IV is entitled to purchase pursuant to two Warrants issued to KIA IV
and 11,616 shares of Holding common stock owned by KP II. Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase up to 10% of the Holding
Common Stock on a fully-diluted basis at an exercise price of $.01 per share.

(e) Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell, Wall, Matelich, Goldberg, Wahrhaftig, Bynum and Berney may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of
shares of Holding Common Stock owned of record by (i) KIA IV and an affiliated entity by virtue of their status as general partners of
KP IV, the general partner of KIA IV, and such affiliate, and (ii) except Mr. Goldberg and Mr. Berney, KIA III-EMJ by virtue of their
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status as general partners of KP III, the general partner of KIA III-EMJ. Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell, Wall, Matelich, Goldberg,
Wahrhaftig, Bynum and Berney share investment and voting power with respect to securities owned by the Kelso affiliates of which they
are general partners. Messrs. Nickell, Wall, Matelich, Goldberg, Wahrhaftig, Bynum and Berney disclaim beneficial ownership of the
shares of Holding Common Stock owned by the affiliates of Kelso & Company.

(f) Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell, Wall and Matelich may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of shares of Series A Preferred Stock
owned of record by KIA I by virtue of their status as general partners of KP I, the general partner of KIA I. Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell,
Wall and Matelich disclaim beneficial ownership of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock owned by KIA I.
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(g) The business address of such person(s) or entity is 10650 South Alameda Street, Lynwood, California, 90262.
(h) Includes shares subject to stock options vested and exercisable as of March 31, 2004.
(i) The business address for Dr. Rutledge is 29 Horseshoe Road, Cos Cob, Connecticut 06807.
(j) The business address of Mr. Marquard is 2199 Maysville Road, Carlyle, Kentucky 40311.
(k) Excludes 22,011 shares of Holding Common Stock and 939 shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by our stock bonus plan in directed

accounts that are deemed to be beneficially owned by any of the directors or executive officers or other of our employees.
(l) Excludes (i) 11,167,215 shares of Holding Common Stock held by Kelso affiliates that may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Mr.

Schuchert and Mr. Nickell, and (ii) shares held by our stock bonus plan, except for shares held in directed accounts that may be deemed
to be beneficially owned by any of the directors and our executive officers.

(m) Excludes (i) 24,519 shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by KIA I that may be deemed to be beneficially owned by Mr. Schuchert and
Mr. Nickell, and (ii) shares held by our stock bonus plan, except for shares held in directed accounts that may be deemed to be
beneficially owned by any of our directors or executive officers.

Item 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Affiliates of Kelso & Company beneficially own shares of the capital stock of Holding as described under �Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management.� KIA IV holds indebtedness of Holding representing approximately $235.6 million of indebtedness as of
March 31, 2004, including accrued and unpaid interest.Messrs. Schuchert, Nickell, Wall, Matelich, Goldberg, Wahrhaftig, Bynum and Berney
are indirect stockholders of Kelso & Company and general partners of KP I (other than Messrs. Goldberg, Bynum, Wahrhaftig and Berney), KP
III (other than Mr. Goldberg) and KP IV. KP I, KP III and KP IV are the general partners of KIA I, KIA III-EMJ and KIA IV, respectively.
Messrs. Schuchert and Nickell are directors of Holding and EMJ. See �Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management.�

EMJ, Holding and Kelso and its affiliates entered into certain agreements in connection with the Acquisition. Such agreements and transactions
are described under �Item 11. Executive Compensation�Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.�

KIA IV is the holder of two Holding warrants which are described under �Item 11. Executive Compensation�Compensation Committee Interlocks
and Insider Participation.�

On each April 1, from 1998 through 2001, in consideration for his service as a director, Chairman of the Company�s Executive Committee and
Chairman of the Board, the Company granted Mr. Roderick options to purchase 20,000 shares of Holding Common Stock at their fair market
value as established by the most recent appraisal available at the date of grant. From April 1, 2002, Mr. Roderick has been paid an annual
retainer of $30,000, payable quarterly for his services as Chairman and a member of our board of directors.
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Item 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The Audit Committee has implemented policies and procedures for the pre-approval of all audit, audit-related and tax services for the Company,
which meets the requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  The Audit Committee has pre-approved certain audit, audit-related, tax
and permitted non-audit services to be performed by our independent auditors, Ernst & Young LLP.  These pre-approved services include the
annual audit and quarterly reviews of our consolidated financial statements and the Company�s periodic filings with the SEC; annual audit and
related filings for the Company�s 401(k) plan, stock bonus plan and Hourly Pension Plan; and review of federal and state income tax returns and
review of Form 5500s.  The Audit Committee has provided the Audit Committee Chair with the authority to approve up to $50,000 of other
audit, audit-related and non-audit services, subject to ratification of the Audit Committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting.  Additionally,
the Audit Committee has directed Ernst & Young LLP not to perform any services for the Company that are specifically prohibited by the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

In connection with the proposed merger and financial restructuring, the Audit Committee also pre-approved the engagement of Ernst & Young
to review our Registration Statement on Form S-4 and the financial statements included in the filings, and pre-approved the engagement of Ernst
& Young, LLP to provide certain tax consultation services related to the structuring of the transaction and the potential effect of the transaction
on our tax returns.

Fees pre-approved by the Audit Committee for audit and non-audit services conducted by the Company�s independent auditor for each of the last
two fiscal years are as follows:

Year Ended March 31,

Type Description of Services 2003 % 2004 %

(dollars in thousands)
Audit Audit and review of

consolidated financial
statements included in Form
10-K and Form 10-Q,
respectively $ 706,900 70.7% $ 716,000 74.0%

Audit-Related Audits of employee benefit
plans; review of Form 5500s 60,000 6.0 62,000 6.4

Tax Review of income tax returns;
consultation related to IRS
inquiries and audits 38,000 3.8 42,000 4.4

All Other Review of debt offering for
Senior Secured Notes in Fiscal
2003 and review of S4 filing for
merger and financial
restructuring in Fiscal 2004 195,000 19.5 147,000 15.2

$ 999,900 100.0% $ 967,000 100.0%
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PART IV

Item 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a)(1) Financial Statements.

See �Index to Audited Consolidated Financial Statements� (page F-1).

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves (page S-2)

All other schedules have been omitted because the information is not applicable or is not material or because the information required is set forth
in the financial statements or the notes thereto.

(a)(3) Exhibits.

See �Index to Exhibits� for listing of those exhibits included in this filing.

(b)    Reports on Form 8-K.

We furnished a report on Form 8-K on May 25, 2004 under Item 12 announcing our results of operations and financial position as of and for the
three month period and fiscal year ended March 31, 2004.
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Exhibit
Number Description

2.1* Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization is made as of December 18, 2003, by and among Earle M. Jorgensen Holding
Company, Inc., Earle M. Jorgensen Company, and EMJ Metals LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Company�s
Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed on January 13, 2004 (Registration No. 333-111882) (the Company�s 2004 Form S-4).

2.2* Exchange Agreement, dated as of December 18, 2003, by and among Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., the Earle M.
Jorgensen Company, Kelso Investment Associates, L.P., Kelso Equity Partners II, L.P., KIA III-Earle M. Jorgensen, L.P., and
Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of the Company�s 2004 Form S-4.

3.1* Certificate of Incorporation of the Comapany. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company�s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 as filed on January 15, 1993 (Registration No. 33-57134 (the Company�s 1993 Registration Statement�).

3.2* By-laws of the Company. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company�s 1993 Registration Statement.

3.3* Form of Indemnification Agreement of the Company. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the Company�s 2004 Form S-4.

4.1* Form of Restructuring Agreement among Holding, the Company and KIA IV. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.25 of
Amendment No. 3 to the Company�s 1993 Registration Statement (�Amendment No. 3�) to the Company�s 1993 Registration
Statement.

4.2* Amendment to Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, by and between Holding and KIA IV, amended as of
March 24, 1998. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 of the Company�s 1998 Form 10-K, Commission File No. 1-7537 for the
fiscal year end March 31, 1998 (the Company�s 1998 Form 10-K�).

4.3* Amendment to Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, by and between Holding and KIA IV, amended as of May 22,
2002. Incorporated by reference to the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Commission File No. 1-7537 for the fiscal year
end March 31, 2003 (The �Company�s 2003 Form 10-K�).

4.4* Second Amendment to Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, by and between Holding and KIA IV, amended as of
May 22, 2002. Incorporated by reference to the Company�s 2003 Form 10-K.

4.5* Third Amendment to Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, by and between Holding and KIA IV, amended as of
June 28, 2002. Incorporated by reference to the Company�s 2003 Form 10-K.

4.6* Fourth Amendment to Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, by and between Holding and KIA IV, amended as of
September 30, 2002. Incorporated by reference to the Company�s 2003 Form 10-K.

4.7* Fifth Amendment to Restructuring Agreement, dated as of March 3, 1993, by and between Holding and KIA IV, amended as of
December 31, 2002. Incorporated by reference to the Company�s 2003 Form 10-K.

4.8* Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of March 3, 1993, amended and restated as of March 24, 1998, and
further amended and restated as of April 12, 2002 (the �Credit Agreement�), among the Company, Holding, Various Financial
Institutions, BT Commercial Corporation, as Agents (the �Agent�), and Deutsche Bank Alex. Brown Incorporated, as Lead Arranger
and Sole Book Runner. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.16 of the Company�s Registration Statement on Form S-4 as filed on
July 3, 2002 (Registration No. 333-91866) (the �Company�s 2002 Registration Statement�).

4.9* Form of Indenture with respect to EMJ�s 9-3/4% Senior Secured Notes due 2012. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 of the
Company�s 2002 Registration Statement.
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4.10* Form of certificate for EMJ�s 9-3/4% Senior Secured Notes, Series A, $248,435,000. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18(a) of
the Company�s 2002 Registration Statement.

4.11* Form of certificate for EMJ�s 9-3/4% Senior Secured Notes, Series A, $1,565,000. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.18(b) of
the Company�s 2002 Registration Statement.

4.12* Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2002, among EMJ, Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, Deutsche Bank Securities,
Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc., for an aggregate of $250,000,000 in principal amount of EMJ�s 9-3/4% Senior Notes due
2012. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.19 of the Company�s 2002 Registration Statement.

4.13* Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2002, among EMJ, Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, Deutsche Bank
Securities, Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.20 of the Company�s 2002 Registration
Statement.

4.14* First Amendment to the Credit Agreement and Consent, dated as of May 22, 2002, and entered into by and among Earle M.
Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., EMJ, the banks and other financial institutions signatory thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas, as Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.21 of the Company�s 2002 Registration Statement.

4.15* Security Agreement, dated as of May 22, 2002, and entered into by and among the Company and other Grantors signatory thereto
and The Bank of New York, as trustee. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.22 of the Company�s 2002 Registration Statement.

4.16* Intercreditor Amendment, dated as of May 22, 2002, and entered into by and among The Bank of New York, as Trustee under the
Indenture with respect to EMJ�s 9-3/4% Senior Notes, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Agent under the Credit
Agreement. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.23 of the Company�s 2002 Registration Statement.

4.17** Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement and Consent, dated as of February 19, 2004, and entered into by and among Earle M.
Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc., EMJ, the banks and other financial institutions signatory thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas, as Agent.

10.1* Stockholders Agreement, amended and restated as of September 14, 1990, among Holding, KIA III-EMJ, KIA IV, Kelso Equity
Partners II, L.P. and the Management Stockholders and Other Investors named therein. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of
Holding�s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Form S-1 Registration Statement as filed with the Commission on October 12,
1990 (Registration No. 33-35022) (�Holding�s Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the 1990 Form S-1�).

10.2* Amendment to the Stockholders Agreement, dated as of January 20, 1992. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the
Company�s 1993 Registration Statement.

10.3* Amendment to the Holding Stockholders Agreement, dated as of September 30, 1994. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to
Amendment No. 1 filed June 2, 1995 (�Amendment No. 1 to Holding�s 1994 Registration Statement�) to Holding�s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 as filed on October 19, 1994 (Registration No. 33-85364 (the �Company�s 1994 Registration Statement�).

10.4* Third Amendment to the Stockholders Agreement, dated as of July 23, 1998. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company�s 2003 Form 10-K.

10.5* Services Agreement, between Acquisition and Kelso, dated March 19, 1990. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Holding�s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 as filed May 30, 1990 with the Commission (Registration No. 33-35022) (�Holding�s 1990
Registration Statement�).

10.6* Holding�s ESOP Trust Agreement. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of Holding�s Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Commission File No. 1-7537 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1991 (the �Company�s 1991 10-K�).
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10.7* Lease and Agreement, dated as of August 1, 1991, between Advantage Corporate Income Fund L.P. and the Company, relating to
the sale and lease-back of Kilsby�s Kansas City, Missouri property. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 of the Company�s
1993 Registration Statement.

10.8* Industrial Building Lease, dated as of October 16, 1991, between Ira Houston Jones and Helen Mansfield Jones, Roderick M. Jones
and Cherilyn Jones, Roger G. Jones and Norma Jean Jones, Robert M. Jones and Olga F. Jones and the Company, relating to the
sale and lease-back of the Alameda Street property in Lynwood, California. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of the
Company�s 1993 Registration Statement.

10.9* Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1992, among Forge Acquisition Corporation, The Jorgensen Forge Corporation
and the Company, relating to the sale of the Company�s Forge division. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 of the Company�s
1993 Registration Statement.

10.10* Form of Management Agreement between the Company and Holding. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 of Amendment
No. 2 to the Company�s 1993 Registration Statement.

10.11* Form of Tax Allocation Agreement between the Company and Holding. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.47 of Amendment
No. 3.

10.12* Holding�s 401(a)(17) Supplemental Contribution Plan, effective April 1, 1994. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to the
Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Commission File No. 5-10065 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1995 (the �Company�s
1995 Form 10-K�).

10.13* Holding�s Deferred Compensation Plan, effective April 1, 1994. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the Company�s 1995
Form 10-K.

10.14* Holding Stock Option Plan effective January 30, 1997. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Company�s Annual Report
on Form 10-K, Commission File No. 1-7537 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1997 (the �Company�s 1997 Form 10-K�).

10.15* Form of Holding Incentive and Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the
Company�s 1997 Form 10-K.

10.16* Earle M. Jorgensen Company Management Incentive Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 to the
Company�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Commission File No. 5-10065 for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 1997.

10.17* Earle M. Jorgensen Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan, as amended and restated effective as of April 1, 2001. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the Company�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Commission File No. 1-7537 for the fiscal quarter
ended December 31, 2002.

10.18* First Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of
April 1, 2001), effective as of January 15, 2002. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the Company�s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, Commission File No. 1-7537 for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2002.

10.19* Second Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of
April 1, 2001), effective as of April 1, 2001. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to the Company�s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q, Commission File No. 1-7537 for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2002.

10.20* Third Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of
April 1, 2001), effective as of January 1, 2002. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the Company�s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, Commission File No. 1-7537 for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2002.
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10.21* Fourth Amendment to the Earle M. Jorgensen Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan (as amended and restated effective as of
April 1, 2001), effective as of April 1, 2003. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company�s 2003 Form 10-K.

10.22* Audit Committee Charter as adopted on April 17, 2003. Incorporated by reference to Company�s 2003 Form 10-K.

10.23* Lease and Agreement, dated as of September 1, 1991, between Advantage Corporate Income Fund L.P. and the Company, relating
to the sale and lease-back of the Cincinnati, Ohio property. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 of the Company�s 1993
Registration Statement.

10.24* Amendment to Holding�s Stock Bonus Plan Trust Agreement, dated as of November 18, 2003. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company�s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Commission File No. 1-7537 for the fiscal quarter ended November 15,
2003.

12.1** Statement of Computation of Number of Times Fixed Charges Earned.

14.1* Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers and the Principal Executive Officer, effective as of March 31, 2003. Incorporated by
reference to Company�s 2003 Form 10-K.

21** Listing of the Company�s subsidiaries.

31.1** Certification of Financial Reports by Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2** Certification of Financial Reports by Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1** Certification of Financial Reports by Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2** Certification of Financial Reports by Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

*  Previously filed.

**  Included in this filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Lynwood, State of California, on the 25th of June, 2004.

EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

By /s/ William S. Johnson
William S. Johnson
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
and Secretary

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatures Title Date

/s/ DAVID M. RODERICK Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Executive Committee and
Director

June 25, 2004

David M. Roderick

/s/ MAURICE S. NELSON, JR. President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer and Director June 25, 2004

Maurice S. Nelson, Jr.

/s/ WILLIAM S. JOHNSON Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer) and Secretary

June 25, 2004

William S. Johnson

/s/ FRANK T. NICKELL Director June 25, 2004

Frank T. Nickell

/s/ WILLIAM A. MARQUARD Director June 25, 2004

William A. Marquard

/s/ JOHN RUTLEDGE Director June 25, 2004

Dr. John Rutledge

/s/ EARL L. MASON Director June 25, 2004

Earl L. Mason
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/s/ DAVID I. WAHRHAFTIG Director June 25, 2004

David I. Wahrhaftig
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED WITH REPORTS FILED PURSUANT TO SECTION 15(D) OF THE ACT
BY REGISTRANTS WHICH HAVE NOT REGISTERED SECURITIES PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE ACT

No annual report or proxy material has been or will be sent to security holders since the Company became subject to Section 15(d) of the Act.
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EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

INDEX TO AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2003 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Stockholder�s Equity for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholder

Earle M. Jorgensen Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Earle M. Jorgensen Company as of March 31, 2003 and 2004, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, stockholder�s equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended March 31, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at item 15(a)(2). These financial statements
and schedule are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Earle M.
Jorgensen Company at March 31, 2003 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended March 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the
information set forth therein.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Orange County, California
May 13, 2004
except for Note 9, as to which the date is
June 15, 2004
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EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

March 31,

2003 2004
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,030 $ 15,528
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts 97,292 133,092
Inventories 213,590 225,248
Other current assets 6,402 7,655
Total current assets 337,314 381,523
Net property, plant and equipment, at cost 113,037 112,190
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies 31,007 34,689
Debt issue costs, net of accumulated amortization 8,232 6,909
Other assets 1,151 1,169
Total assets $ 490,741 $ 536,480

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER�S EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 119,815 $ 162,648
Accrued employee compensation and related taxes 12,430 19,207
Accrued employee benefits 14,150 12,744
Accrued interest 16,186 17,352
Other accrued liabilities 2,748 8,616
Deferred income taxes 19,450 17,517
Current portion of long-term debt 2,330 3,976
Total current liabilities 187,109 242,060
Long-term debt 328,207 305,762
Deferred income taxes 15,936 17,869
Other long-term liabilities 7,505 8,148
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholder�s equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 200 shares authorized and unissued � �
Common stock, $.01 par value; 2,800 shares authorized; 128 shares issued and outstanding � �
Capital in excess of par value 35,284 29,503
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Foreign currency translation adjustment (485) (73)
Additional minimum pension liability (3,399) (2,625)
Accumulated deficit (79,416) (64,164)
Total stockholder�s equity (deficit) (48,016) (37,359)
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Total liabilities and stockholder�s equity $ 490,741 $ 536,480

See accompanying notes.
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EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(dollars in thousands)

Year Ended March 31,

2002 2003 2004
Revenues $ 895,058 $ 919,927 $ 1,040,367
Cost of sales 641,991 658,562 754,266
Gross profit 253,067 261,365 286,101

Expenses:
Warehouse and delivery 124,457 127,080 135,421
Selling 31,932 32,329 38,254
General and administrative 46,405 38,590 42,954
Loss on early retirement of debt � 12,278 �
Total expenses 202,794 210,277 216,629
Income from operations 50,273 51,088 69,472
Interest expense, net 42,545 47,206 51,093
Excise tax imposed under IRS settlement 1,919 � �
Income before income taxes 5,809 3,882 18,379
Income tax expense 455 1,500 3,127
Net income 5,354 2,382 15,252
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Derivative�interest rate swap agreement (2,925) � �
Foreign currency translation adjustment (133) 1,200 412
Minimum pension liability 32 (3,150) 774
Comprehensive income $ 2,328 $ 432 $ 16,438

See accompanying notes.
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EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDER�S EQUITY

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Capital
in excess

of par value

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss

Accumulated
deficit Total

Common Stock

Shares Amount
Balance at March 31, 2001 128 $ �$ 85,834 $ (1,833) $ (87,152) $ (3,151)
Dividend to Parent � � (14,963) � � (14,963)
Loss on interest rate swap agreement � � � (2,925) � (2,925)
Foreign currency translation
adjustment � � � (133) � (133)
Additional minimum pension
liability � � � 32 � 32
Net income � � � � 5,354 5,354
Balance at March 31, 2002 128 � 70,871 (4,859) (81,798) (15,786)
Dividend to Parent � � (35,587) � � (35,587)
Reversal of loss on interest rate swap
agreement recognized in net income � � � 2,925 � 2,925
Foreign currency translation
adjustment � � � 1,200 � 1,200
Additional minimum pension
liability � � � (3,150) � (3,150)
Net income � � � � 2,382 2,382
Balance at March 31, 2003 128 � 35,284 (3,884) (79,416) (48,016)
Dividend to Parent � � (5,781) � � (5,781)
Foreign currency translation
adjustment � � � 412 � 412
Additional minimum pension
liability � � � 774 � 774
Net income � � � � 15,252 15,252
Balance at March 31, 2004 128 $ �$ 29,503 $ (2,698) $ (64,164) $ (37,359)

See accompanying notes.
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EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(dollars in thousands)

Year Ended March 31,

2002 2003 2004
Operating activities:
Net income $ 5,354 $ 2,382 $ 15,252
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Loss on early retirement of debt � 12,278 �
Depreciation and amortization 11,449 11,369 11,284
Amortization and write-off of debt issue costs included in interest
expense 1,792 1,416 1,323
Accrued postretirement benefits 249 498 619
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (36) (183) (1,335)
Provision for bad debts 2,434 2,649 2,880
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance over premiums
paid (2,174) (2,242) (5,276)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 15,510 (10,662) (38,680)
Decrease (increase) in inventories 31,712 (26,722) (11,658)
Decrease (increase) in other current assets 960 134 (1,932)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and
expenses (53,491) 40,608 55,238
Decrease (increase) in non-trade receivables 1,681 (1,637) 679
Other (896) 1,086 1,097
Net cash provided by operating activities 14,544 30,974 29,491
Investing activities:
Additions to property, plant and equipment (24,531) (15,335) (10,530)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 116 2,440 1,540
Premiums paid on life insurance policies (1,461) (1,335) (1,298)
Proceeds from redemption of life insurance policies 1,124 195 2,892
Net cash used in investing activities (24,752) (14,035) (7,396)
Financing activities:
Net borrowings (payments) under revolving loan agreements 25,111 (9,958) (19,399)
Proceeds from issuance of senior debt � 250,000 �
Repayment of term loan � (96,000) �
Repayment of senior debt � (105,000) �
Payment of debt issue costs � (10,669) �
Other costs paid in connection with early retirement of debt � (9,596) �
Other debt payments, net (2,400) (1,400) (1,400)
Cash dividend to Parent (14,963) (35,587) (5,781)
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Net cash provided (used) in financing activities 7,748 (18,210) (26,580)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 2 1 (17)
Net decrease in cash (2,458) (1,270) (4,502)
Cash at beginning of year 23,758 21,300 20,030
Cash at end of year $ 21,300 $ 20,030 $ 15,528

See accompanying notes.
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EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

March 31, 2004

1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation�Earle M. Jorgensen Company (the �Company�) became a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. (the �Parent�) as the result of a series of business combinations and mergers
effective April 1, 1990.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries including Earle M.
Jorgensen (Canada) Inc. (�EMJ (Canada)�) and Stainless Insurance Ltd., a captive insurance subsidiary (�EMJ (Bermuda)�). In fiscal years 2002,
2003 and 2004, EMJ (Canada) generated net income (loss) of $(325,000), $1,153,000 and $3,282,000, respectively. In fiscal years 2002, 2003
and 2004, EMJ (Bermuda) generated net income (loss) of $(2,056,000), $540,000 and $(609,000), respectively, including investment income
and intercompany fees. The loss in fiscal year 2002 and 2004 was attributable to higher loss reserves established in connection with the
Company�s self-insured workers compensation program. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Company Background and Segment Information�The Company distributes a broad line of bar, tubing, plate and various other
metal products and value added services through a network of 36 service centers and value-added processing
operations strategically located throughout North America.  Metals products sold by the Company are purchased from
various primary metal producers and suppliers, none of which provided more than 10% of the Company�s total
purchases in fiscal year 2004.  The Company has over 35,000 customers, none of which represented more than 2% of
the Company�s gross revenues in fiscal year 2004.

For financial reporting purposes, the Company operates in one reportable segment�the metals service center industry�as determined in accordance
with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.

Reclassification�Certain amounts reported in prior years have been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation.

Use of Estimates�The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues
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and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  Actual results could differ significantly from
those estimates and judgments under different assumptions and conditions.

Revenue Recognition�The Company recognizes revenue associated with a sales order when product is shipped, title is
passed and collectibility is reasonably assured.

Shipping and Handling Costs�Costs incurred in connection with shipping and handling the Company�s products are classified
as warehouse and delivery expenses in the accompanying statements of operations.

Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk�The Company sells the majority of its products throughout the United
States and Canada. Sales to the Company�s recurring customers are generally made on open account terms while sales
to occasional customers are made on a C.O.D. basis when collectibility is not assured. The Company performs
periodic credit evaluations of its ongoing customers and generally does not require collateral. The Company
establishes an allowance for potential credit losses based upon factors surrounding the credit risk for specific
customers, historical trends and other information; such losses have been within management�s expectations, and were
higher in fiscal year 2004 when compared to fiscal years 2003 and 2002. The Company�s allowance for doubtful
accounts at March 31, 2003 and 2004 was $390,000 and $601,000, respectively. Management believes there are no
significant concentrations of credit risk as of March 31, 2004.
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Property, Plant and Equipment�Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost. Additions, renewals and betterments are
capitalized; maintenance and repairs, which do not extend useful lives, are expensed as incurred. Gains or losses from
disposals are reflected in income and the related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts.
Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 10 to 40
years for buildings and improvements and three to 20 years for machinery and equipment. Leasehold improvements
are amortized over the terms of the respective leases.  Depreciation expense was $9,787,000 and $9,703,000 in fiscal
2003 and fiscal 2004, respectively.

The Company capitalizes certain costs incurred during the development of software used internally and amortizes such costs over their estimated
useful lives. During fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, such costs totaling $414,000, $220,000 and $274,000, respectively, were capitalized.

Long-lived assets, primarily land, buildings, leasehold improvements and certain equipment, used in operations or are expected to be disposed of
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that full recoverability is questionable. Factors used in the
evaluation include, but are not limited to, future plans for the operations, recent operating results and forecasted cash flows.  When indicators of
impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying value of the assets,
the assets are written down and an impairment loss is recognized. There were no impairment losses recorded in fiscal years 2002, 2003, and
2004.

Debt Issue Costs�Debt issue costs are deferred and amortized to interest expense over the life of the underlying
indebtedness. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, amortization of debt issue costs was
$1,792,000, $1,416,000 and $1,323,000, respectively.  Accumulated amortization of debt issue costs was $1,263,000
and $2,586,000 at March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation�Stock options granted to directors, officers and other key employees of the Company under
Holding�s stock option plan adopted in January 1997 are accounted for in accordance with APB No. 25. As all stock
option grants are made at fair value on the date of grant, the Company recognizes no compensation cost.  Had
compensation expense for stock options granted been recorded based on the fair value method under SFAS No. 123,
as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure, the effect on
the Company�s net income for fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 would have been as follows:

Year Ended March 31,

2002 2003 2004
Net income, as reported $ 5,354,000 $ 2,382,000 $ 15,252,000
Deduct:  total stock-based compensation expense determined
using fair value method for all awards, net of tax (209,000) (138,000) (74,000)
Net income, as adjusted $ 5,145,000 $ 2,244,000 $ 15,178,000

Income Taxes�The Company is included in the consolidated tax returns of Parent and calculates its tax provision as
though it files on a separate basis. The consolidated tax liability of the Company and Parent is allocated to each of
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these entities pursuant to a Tax Allocation Agreement between the Company and Parent (�Tax Allocation Agreement�).
Under the Tax Allocation Agreement, Parent pays all taxes and is reimbursed by the Company for the lesser of (i) the
Company�s allocated portion of the taxes due, or (ii) the tax that would be payable if the Company filed its own
returns.

The Company records deferred taxes based upon differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities pursuant to
SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, as though it files on a separate basis. Any differences in deferred taxes determined on a separate
basis and the actual payments made or received under the Tax Allocation Agreement are accounted for as an equity adjustment between the
Company and Parent. There were no such differences in fiscal year 2004. Deferred taxes are also recorded for the future benefit of Federal and
state tax losses and tax credit carryforwards. Consistent with SFAS No. 109, a valuation allowance has been recognized for certain deferred tax
assets, which management believes are not likely to be realized (see Note 6).

Foreign Currency Translation�The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in accordance
with SFAS No. 52, Foreign Currency Translation. Balance sheet accounts are translated using the year-end exchange
rates while income statement amounts are translated using the average exchange rates for each year. Adjustments
resulting from translation of foreign currency financial statements are included in accumulated other comprehensive
loss in stockholder�s equity. No significant exchange gains and losses were recorded during fiscal 2004, 2003 and
fiscal 2002.
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Cash and Statements of Cash Flows�Cash includes disbursements and deposits not yet funded by or applied to the Company�s
Revolving Credit Facility as of a balance sheet date and cash and cash equivalents totaling $2,940,000 and $2,004,000
as of March 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively, held by EMJ (Bermuda) in connection with providing insurance to the
Company.  The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to
be cash equivalents.

For the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 cash paid for interest on borrowings was $39,942,000, $37,674,000 and $48,623,000, and
net cash paid (refunded) for income taxes was $403,000, $(551,000) and $671,000, respectively.

Comprehensive Income�Components of the Company�s comprehensive income include foreign currency translation
adjustments, additional minimum pension liability and accounting for certain derivatives.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (�SFAS�) No. 132
(revised December 2003), Employers� Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits (SFAS 132-R). This statement amends the
disclosure requirements of SFAS 132 to require more details about retirement plan assets, benefit obligations, cash flows and other relevant
information. SFAS 132-R is effective for years ending after December 15, 2003, except certain benefit payment and international plan
disclosures that are effective for fiscal years after June 15, 2004. The adoption of the disclosure provisions of SFAS 132-R did not have a
material effect on the Company�s consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity,
which establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and
equities. The provisions of SFAS No. 150 are effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003. For nonpublic
companies (under which the Company is classified, as defined by SFAS No. 150), application is effective in the fiscal period beginning after
December 15, 2003. The Company is in the process of assessing the effect of adopting SFAS No. 150.

In April 2003, FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Transactions, which amends
and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments, including those embedded in other contracts, and for hedging
activities under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.  The provisions of SFAS No. 149 are effective
for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. As of March 31, 2004, the Company had no such instruments.

In January 2003, FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (�FIN No. 46�), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, to expand upon and
strengthen existing accounting guidance that addresses when a company should include in its financial statements the assets, liabilities and
activities of another entity. The disclosure requirements in this interpretation are effective for the Company for financial statements of interim
and annual periods beginning with the first annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2004, except immediate implementation is
required for variable interest entitites after December 31, 2003. This statement did not have an effect on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements as of and for the periods ending March 31, 2004.
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2.  Inventories

Substantially all inventories are held for sale at the Company�s service center locations and are valued at the lower of cost (using the last-in,
first-out (LIFO) method) or market. If the Company had used the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method of inventory valuation, inventories would have
been lower by $11,786,000 at March 31, 2003 and higher by $2,557,000 at March 31, 2004.

Any reduction of inventory quantities that liquidates LIFO inventories carried at costs lower or higher than costs prevailing in prior years may
have a significant effect on the Company�s gross profit.  Such a reduction and liquidation occurred during fiscal year 2002 and fiscal year 2004,
but did not have a significant effect on gross profit. There were no such reductions in fiscal year 2003.

F-9

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form 10-K

83



3.  Net Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including in-process costs for assets not yet placed in service) and accumulated depreciation at March 31, 2003
and 2004 consisted of the following:

2003 2004
Land $ 18,867,000 $ 18,622,000
Buildings and leasehold improvements 51,056,000 52,196,000
Machinery and equipment 118,166,000 116,319,000
In-process costs 6,807,000 1,921,000

194,896,000 189,058,000
Less accumulated depreciation 81,859,000 76,868,000
Net property, plant and equipment $ 113,037,000 $ 112,190,000

The in-process costs at March 31, 2004 are primarily attributable to progress payments made on equipment for our tube honing facility and in
Tulsa, Oklahoma and building renovation in our Tulsa, Oklahoma service center. As of March 31, 2004 such costs include $1,300,000.
Estimated remaining costs to be incurred in connection with these projects total $800,000 and are expected to be paid during fiscal year 2005.

4.  Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance

The Company is the owner and beneficiary of life insurance policies on all former nonunion employees of a predecessor company including
certain current employees of the Company and its Parent. The Company is also the owner and beneficiary of key man life insurance policies on
certain current and former executives of the Company and predecessor companies. These policies are designed to provide cash to the Company
to repurchase shares held by employees in the Company�s Stock Bonus Plan and shares held individually by employees upon the termination of
their employment. Cash surrender value of the life insurance policies increases by a portion of the amount of premiums paid and by dividend
income earned under the policies. Dividend income earned under the policies totaled $13,521,000, $17,156,000 and $17,751,000 in fiscal years
2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, and is recorded as an offset to general and administrative expense in the accompanying statements of
operations.

The Company has borrowed against the cash surrender value of certain policies to pay a portion of the premiums and accrued interest on those
policies and to fund working capital needs. Interest rates on borrowings under the life insurance policies are fixed at 11.76%. As of March 31,
2004, approximately $10,295,000 was available for future borrowings.

Surrender
value before

loans
Loans

Outstanding

Net cash
surrender
value

Balance at March 31, 2003 $ 195,976,000 $ 164,969,000 $ 31,007,000
Balance at March 31, 2004 217,320,000 182,631,000 34,689,000
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Interest on cash surrender value borrowings totaled $15,996,000, $17,796,000 and $20,082,000 in fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004,
respectively, and is included in net interest expense in the accompanying statements of operations.
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5.  Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt at March 31, 2003 and 2004 consisted of the following:

2003 2004
Revolving Loans (including $1,195,000 and $1,861,000 at March 31, 2003 and 2004,
respectively, related to a Canadian facility) $ 72,937,000 $ 53,538,000
93/4% Senior Secured Notes due June 1, 2012 250,000,000 250,000,000
Industrial Development Revenue Bonds:
Payable in annual installments of $500,000 commencing June 1, 1998, interest at 9% 1,500,000 1,000,000
Payable in annual installments of $715,000 commencing December 1, 2004, interest
at 5.25% 4,300,000 4,300,000
Payable in annual installments of $900,000 commencing September 1, 2000, interest
at 8.5% 1,800,000 900,000

330,537,000 309,738,000
Less current portion 2,330,000 3,976,000

$ 328,207,000 $ 305,762,000

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows: $3,976,000 in fiscal year 2005; $1,215,000 in fiscal year 2006; $52,392,000 in fiscal year
2007; $715,000 in fiscal year 2008, $715,000 in fiscal year 2009 and $250,725,000 thereafter.

The fair value of the Senior Secured Notes at March 31, 2004 was $280,000,000 based on the quoted market prices as of that date. The carrying
values of all other long-term debt and other financial instruments at March 31, 2004 approximate fair value.

On May 22, 2002, the Company completed the issuance and sale of 9 3/4% Senior Secured Notes due 2012 totaling $250,000,000,
the proceeds from which were used to (i) redeem $105 million in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 9½%
senior notes, plus call premium and accrued interest, (ii) prepay $96 million of the term loan plus accrued interest, and
(iii) terminate the interest rate swap agreement. As a result of this refinancing transaction, the Company recorded an
extraordinary loss of $12,278,000 related to the early retirement of debt, consisting of the call premium paid, a
payment to terminate the interest rate swap agreement, the write-off of deferred financing costs, and certain other
expenses incurred in connection with the refinancing transaction.  No tax benefit was recorded in connection with this
loss due to the uncertainty in realizing the resulting deferred tax asset.

Credit Agreements

The Company�s revolving credit facility (�Credit Agreement�), allows maximum borrowings of $200 million, including letters of credit
($8,560,000 outstanding at March 31, 2004).  Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a base rate (generally defined as the
greater of bank�s prime lending rate or 1/2% over the Federal Funds Rate) plus 1.25% or the adjusted Eurodollar rate plus 2.50%.  At March 31,
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2004, the bank�s prime lending rate was 4.00% and the Eurodollar rate was 1.09%. In addition, borrowings under the revolving loans are limited
to an amount equal to 85% of eligible trade receivables (as defined) plus 55% of eligible inventories (as defined). Unused available borrowings
under the revolving loans totaled $139,763,000 at March 31, 2004. The Credit Agreement matures on April 7, 2006 and is secured by a lien on
all domestic inventory and accounts receivable of the Company.

Under the Credit Agreement, the Company is obligated to pay certain fees including an unused commitment fee of 0.5%, payable quarterly in
arrears, and letter of credit fees of 2.50% per annum of the maximum amount available to be drawn under each letter of credit, payable quarterly
in arrears, plus issuance, fronting, amendment and other standard fees. The Company paid loan commitment fees totaling $480,000 in fiscal year
2002, $584,000 in fiscal year 2003, and $447,000 in fiscal year 2004.

The Credit Agreement contains financial covenants in respect of maintenance of minimum working capital and a fixed charge coverage ratio (as
defined). The Credit Agreement also limits, among other things, the incurrence of liens and other indebtedness, mergers, consolidations, the sale
of assets, annual capital expenditures, advances, investments and loans by the Company and its subsidiaries, dividends and other restricted
payments by the Company and its subsidiaries in respect to their capital stock, and certain transactions with affiliates.

F-11

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form 10-K

87



The Company�s Canadian subsidiary maintains a one year renewable credit facility (the �Canadian Facility�) totaling CAD$9,000,000 including (i)
a revolving credit facility of CAD$5,500,000, (ii) a term financial instruments facility of CAD$3,000,000 for hedging foreign currency and rate
fluctuations (unused as of March 31, 2004), and (iii) a special credit facility for the issuance of a letter of guarantee up to CAD$500,000 in
connection with the lease for the Toronto facility. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility are limited to an amount equal to 80% of
eligible trade receivables (as defined) plus 40% of eligible inventories (as defined, and limited to CAD$1,500,000), are repayable on demand,
and bear interest at the bank�s annual prime lending rate plus 0.50%. At March 31, 2004, the interest rate on the revolving credit facility was
4.50%. The revolving credit facility contains financial covenants in respect of maintenance of minimum equity and a debt-to-equity ratio (as
defined) and has other restrictions similar to those under the amended Credit Agreement, as described above.

Senior Secured Notes

On May 22, 2002, the Company refinanced its 9½% senior notes and variable rate term loan by issuing $250 million of 9 3/4% Senior
Secured Notes due 2012.  The 9 3/4% Senior Secured Notes were issued at par and interest payments are made
semi-annually on June 1 and December 1, commencing on December 1, 2002.  The 9 3/4% Senior Secured Notes are
secured by a first-priority lien (subject to permitted liens) on substantially all of the Company�s existing and future
acquired unencumbered property, plant and equipment and may be redeemed by the Company under certain
conditions and with certain restrictions at varying redemption prices. The Indenture to the 9 3/4% Senior Secured
Notes contains certain covenants which limit, among other things, the incurrence of liens and other indebtedness,
mergers, consolidations, the sale of assets, investments and loans, dividends and other distributions, and certain
transactions with affiliates.

Derivative Instrument

In June 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas (�DBTCA�) that
effectively fixed the interest rate on the variable rate term loan at approximately 9.05% through June 2003 (the �Fixed Rate�). Such agreement
required DBTCA to make payments to the Company each quarter in an amount equal to the product of the notional amount of $95 million and
the difference between the three month London Interbank Offered Rate and 3.25% (�Floating LIBOR�) and the Fixed Rate, if the Floating LIBOR
was greater than the Fixed Rate on a per diem basis. If Floating LIBOR was lower than the Fixed Rate, the Company was required to pay
DBTCA an amount equal to the product of the notional amount and the difference between the Fixed Rate and Floating LIBOR on a per diem
basis. Under the provisions described above, net payments (receipts) in fiscal years 2001 and 2002 were $(721,000) and $2,248,000,
respectively.  Because the interest rate swap agreement was terminated in May 2002 in connection with the prepayment of the Company�s term
loan resulting from the issuance and sale of the 93/4% Senior Secured Notes described above, no quarterly settlements were required in fiscal
year 2003.

The interest rate swap agreement was considered a highly effective cash flow hedge under the provisions of SFAS No. 133, as amended, which
was adopted by the Company effective April 1, 2001. Under SFAS No. 133, the effective portion of gain or loss resulting from changes in the
fair value of the interest rate swap agreement is reported in other comprehensive income while the ineffective portion is recognized in net
income.  For the year ended March 31, 2002, a loss of $2,925,000 was recognized in other comprehensive income and a loss of $100,000 was
recognized in net income. As of March 31, 2002, the interest rate swap agreement represented a long-term liability with a fair market value of
$3,025,000, as calculated under the provisions of SFAS No. 133.  In connection with the issuance and sale of the 9 3/4% Senior Secured
Notes, the Company paid $3,025,000 to terminate the interest rate swap agreement, which was recognized as part of
the loss of $12,278,000 related to the early retirement of debt.
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Other

The Company�s industrial revenue development bonds were issued in connection with significant facility improvements or construction projects.
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6.  Income Taxes

Significant components of the provision for income taxes attributable to continuing operations for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and
2004 were as follows:

2002 2003 2004
Current:
Federal $ (49,000) $ 435,000 $ �
State 492,000 492,000 1,458,000
Foreign 12,000 573,000 1,669,000
Total current 455,000 1,500,000 3,127,000
Deferred:
Federal (3,277,000) 373,000 (1,666,000)
State (482,000) 42,000 (995,000)
Valuation allowances 3,759,000 (415,000) 2,661,000
Total deferred � � �

$ 455,000 $ 1,500,000 $ 3,127,000

The reconciliation of the income tax provision differs from that which would result from applying the U.S. statutory rate for years ended
March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 were as follows:

2002 2003 2004
Expected tax at Federal statutory rate $ 2,033,000 $ 5,656,000 $ 6,433,000
State franchise tax expense and capital taxes, net of Federal taxes 320,000 320,000 948,000
Expiration of capital loss carryforward � 5,618,000 �
Net increase in cash surrender values of life insurance (4,732,000) (6,005,000) (6,213,000)
Change in valuation allowance 3,759,000 (415,000) 2,661,000
Other (925,000) (3,674,000) (702,000)

Income tax provision $ 455,000 $ 1,500,000 $ 3,127,000

The change of $2,661,000 in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2004 was due primarily to the generation of a tax
loss in fiscal year 2004.

Income before taxes consists primarily of income from the Company�s domestic operations. For fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, the Company�s
foreign operations, including the captive insurance subsidiary, generated pre-tax income (loss) of $(2,369,000), $2,267,000 and $4,342,000,
respectively.
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Significant components of the Company�s deferred income tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2003 and 2004 were as follows:

2003 2004
Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax over book depreciation $ 7,709,000 $ 8,893,000
Purchase price adjustments 35,846,000 35,210,000
Total deferred tax liabilities 43,555,000 44,103,000
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss and credit carryforwards 19,473,000 21,142,000
Capital loss carryforward � �
Workers compensation and other insurance accruals 3,011,000 3,438,000
Inventory and related reserves 4,105,000 5,024,000
Other 1,858,000 2,052,000
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (20,278,000) (22,939,000)
Net deferred tax assets 8,169,000 8,717,000
Net deferred tax liabilities $ 35,386,000 $ 35,386,000
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At March 31, 2004, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards of $49,214,000 for Federal income tax purposes and $29,870,000 for
State income tax purposes. The Federal carryforwards resulted from the Company�s losses during 1993, 1996 and 2002, and expire in years 2008,
2011 and 2022, respectively, while the State carryforwards were generated in various states over various years. The ultimate realization of the
benefits of these loss carryforwards is dependent on future profitable operations. In addition, use of the Company�s net operating loss
carryforwards and other tax attributes may be substantially limited if a cumulative change in ownership of more than 50% occurs within any
three year period subsequent to a loss year.  At March 31, 2004, the Company had an alternative minimum tax carryforward of approximately
$2,364,000 which can be utilized over an indefinite period of time.

On September 11, 2002, new tax laws were enacted in California that suspend the use of net operating tax carryforwards into years beginning on
or after January 1, 2002 and 2003.  Accordingly, net operating losses generated in California in prior tax years cannot be used to offset the
Company�s taxable income for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2004.  This suspension will not apply to tax years beginning on or after
January 1, 2004 and did not have a material impact on the Company�s results of operations for the year ended March 31, 2004.

The Company has not provided for taxes on undistributed earnings from its non-U.S. subsidiaries because such earnings are intended to be
re-invested indefinitely.  If these earnings were distributed, foreign tax credits may become available under current tax law to reduce the
resulting U.S. tax liability.

7.  Employee Benefit Plans

Stock Bonus Plan

The Company and its Parent have a Stock Bonus Plan (the �Plan�, formerly an employee stock ownership plan (�ESOP�) prior to April 1, 1999)
which covers nonunion employees of the Company who meet certain service requirements. The cost of the Plan is borne by the Company
through annual contributions to a trust in amounts determined by the Board of Directors. Prior to an agreement reached with the Department of
Labor in January 2003 (see Note 8), contributions were made in cash or shares of the Parent�s stock as the Parent�s Board of Directors may from
time to time determine. Participants vest at a rate of 20% per year of service and become fully vested at age 65 or upon retirement, disability or
death. Upon the occurrence of a participant�s termination (as defined), retirement, disability, or death, the Plan is required to either distribute the
vested balance in stock or to repurchase the vested balance for cash (as determined by the Benefits Committee). If stock is distributed, it is
accompanied by a put option to the Parent under terms defined in the Plan. Shares of the Parent�s Series A and B preferred and common stock
owned by the Plan totaled 38,282, 28,730 and 2,652,874 at March 31, 2004, respectively. For fiscal years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004,
contributions payable to the Plan�s trust totaled $2,831,000, $2,772,000 and $2,783,000 which represented 5% of eligible compensation for each
of the respective years. The contributions payable as of March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 have been or will be paid in cash. The Company
recognizes the cost of the Plan as compensation expense with a corresponding amount reflected in its capital for the value of the Parent�s
common stock contributed to the trust by the Parent, or as a dividend to Parent for contributions paid in cash.

The Company also has a supplemental stock bonus plan to include highly compensated employees and other employees, who are not eligible to
participate in the Plan. Contributions payable, vesting and distributions in the supplemental plan are comparable to those under the Plan.
Contributions under this supplemental plan are made in cash and are held in an irrevocable trust. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002,
2003 and 2004, contributions payable totaled $76,000, $78,000 and $90,000, respectively.
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Although the Parent has not expressed any intent to terminate or amend the plan, it has the right to do so at any time. In the event of any
termination, participants become fully vested to the extent of the balances in their separate accounts and come under the put options as
previously discussed.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Moderization Act of 2003 (the �Act�) was signed into law. The impact of
the Act is not reflected in any amounts disclosed in the financial statements or accompanying notes. The Company is currently reviewing the
effects of the Act will have on its plans and expects to complete that review during fiscal 2005. In addition, the Company is waiting for guidance
from the United States Department of Health and Human Services on how the employer subsidy provision will be administered and from the
FASB on how the impact of the Act should be recognized in the financial statements.

Pension Plans

The Company maintains a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all hourly union employees (the �Hourly Plan�).
Benefits under the Hourly Plan are vested after five years and are determined based on years of service and a benefit rate that is negotiated with
each union. The assets of the Hourly Plan for participants are held in trust and consist of bonds, equity securities and insurance contracts. The
Company contributes at least the minimum required annually under ERISA. The Company also maintains an unfunded supplemental pension
plan, which provides benefits to highly compensated employees; this plan has been frozen to include only existing participants (the
�Supplemental Plan�).
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Components of net periodic pension cost (credit) associated with the Company�s pension plans for years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004
are as follows:

2002 2003 2004
Service cost of benefits earned during the period $ 433,000 $ 432,000 $ 523,000
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 784,000 843,000 879,000
Expected return on plan assets (1,017,000) (864,000) (763,000)
Amortization of prior service cost (95,000) (47,000) (37,000)
Recognized net (gain) loss (66,000) 21,000 267,000

$ 39,000 $ 385,000 $ 869,000

Categories of plan assets 2003 2004
Bonds 13% 14%
Stocks 87% 86%

Expected contributions in the next fiscal year will be $700,000.

The plan is 100% invested in Wells Fargo Asset Allocations Collective Investment Fund (the �Fund�). The Fund seeks long-term total return,
consistent with reasonable risk, by shifting investments among stocks and U.S. Treasury long-term bonds using a quantitative asset allocation
strategy. The Fund invests in common stocks that comprise the S&P 500 Index and bonds that comprise the Lehman Brothers 20+ Tresury Bond
Index. The Fund will remain near its strategic allocation of 60% stocks and 40% bonds the majority of the time to maximize the probability of
achieving its long-term risk and return objectives.

The following provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets, and the funded (unfunded) status of
the pension plans for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2004.

2003 2004
Change in Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 11,350,000 $ 14,066,000
Service cost 432,000 523,000
Interest cost 843,000 879,000
Change in assumptions 1,414,000 958,000
Amendments 504,000 67,000
Benefit payments (514,000) (545,000)
Actuarial loss/(gain) 37,000 (157,000)
Benefit obligation at end of year 14,066,000 15,791,000
Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 11,203,000 9,297,000
Actual return on assets (1,434,000) 2,205,000
Benefit payments (514,000) (545,000)
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Company contributions 92,000 793,000
Fees (50,000) (31,000)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 9,297,000 11,719,000
Unfunded (4,769,000) (4,072,000)
Unrecognized prior service cost (236,000) (131,000)
Unrecognized net actuarial gain 3,658,000 2,780,000
Net amount recognized $ (1,347,000) $ (1,423,000)
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The following provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets, and the funded (unfunded) status of
the pension plans for the years ended March 31, 2003 and 2004.

2003 2004
Amounts recognized in balance sheets consist of:
Prepaid cost $ � $ �
Accrued benefit liability (4,746,000) (4,048,000)
Accumulated comprehensive loss-additional minimum liability 3,399,000 2,625,000
Net amount recognized $ (1,347,000) $ (1,423,000)

Weighted-average assumptions as of March 31:
Discount rate 6.50% 6.00%
Expected return on assets 8.25% 8.25%
Rate of compensation increase � �
Measurement date for assets and liabilities 1/1/2003 1/1/2004

The return on assets assumption assumes a long term return of 9% on equity investments and 7% on government bond investments with a 60%
equity and 40% bond target investment mix. Long-term rates of return on equity investments are trending approximately 7% above current CPI,
while long-term rates of return on government bond investments are trending approximately 5% above current CPI. Current CPI has been
approximately 2% for the last few years.

In accordance with union agreements, the Company also contributes to multi-employer defined benefit retirement plans covering substantially
all union employees of the Company. At March 31, 2004, four different unions represented approximately 563 of our employees from 16
locations (35% of total employees).  Our collective bargaining agreements expire at staggered dates through March 2010; bargaining agreements
that will expire in fiscal 2005 represent 11% of total employees.  Expenses incurred in connection with these plans totaled $1,015,000,
$1,295,000 and $1,798,000 in fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

Postretirement Benefit Plan

In addition to the Company�s defined benefit pension plans, the Company sponsors a defined benefit health care plan that provides postretirement
medical and dental benefits to eligible full time employees and their dependents (the �Postretirement Plan�). The Postretirement Plan is fully
insured, with retirees paying a percentage of the annual premium. Such premiums are adjusted annually based on age and length of service of
active and retired participants. The Postretirement Plan contains other cost-sharing features such as deductibles and coinsurance. The Company
recognizes the cost of future benefits earned by participants during their working careers, as determined using actuarial assumptions. Gains and
losses realized from the remeasurement of the plan�s benefit obligation are amortized to income over three years.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised December 2003), Employers� Disclosures about Pensions and Other
Postretirement Benefits (SFAS 132-R). This statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 132 to require more details about retirement
plan assets, benefit obligations, cash flows and other relevant information. SFAS 132-R is effective for years ending after December 15, 2003,
except certain benefit payment and international plan disclosures that are effective for fiscal years after June 15, 2004. The adoption of the
disclosure provisions of SFAS 132-R did not have a material effect on the Company�s consolidated financial statements.
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Components of the net benefit cost associated with the Company�s Postretirement Plan for years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 are as
follows:

2002 2003 2004
Service cost of benefits earned during the period $ 223,000 $ 249,000 $ 293,000
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 211,000 258,000 271,000
Recognized net (gain)/loss (185,000) (9,000) 55,000

$ 249,000 $ 498,000 $ 619,000

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and the unfunded status of the Postretirement Plan for the
years ended March 31, 2003 and 2004.

2003 2004
Change in Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 3,271,000 $ 4,328,000
Service cost 249,000 293,000
Interest cost 258,000 271,000
Change in assumptions 950,000 262,000
Benefit payments (208,000) (151,000)
Actuarial gains (192,000) (87,000)
Benefit obligation at end of year 4,328,000 4,916,000
Unfunded (4,328,000) (4,916,000)
Unrecognized prior service cost � �
Unrecognized net actuarial gain 358,000 478,000
Accrued benefit cost $ (3,970,000) $ (4,438,000)

Weighted-average assumptions as of March 31:
Discount rate 6.50% 6.00%
Healthcare cost trend rate 12.00% 11.00%
Measurement date for assets and liabilities 1/1/2003 1/1/2004
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The healthcare cost trend rate of 11.0% used in the calculation of net benefit cost of the Postretirement Plan is assumed to decrease 1.0% per
year to 6.0% for 2009 and remain at that level thereafter .

Assumed healthcare trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the Company�s Postretirement Plan. A one-percentage-point
change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects:

1% Increase 1% Decrease
Effect on total service and interest cost components $ 88,000 $ (74,000)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation 644,000 (550,000)

8.  Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments

The Company leases, under several agreements with varying terms, certain office and warehouse facilities, equipment and vehicles. Rent
expense totaled $21,353,000, $21,657,000 and $22,302,000 for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.  Sublease income
for the years ended March 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 was $456,000, $632,000 and $653,000, respectively.  Minimum rentals of certain leases
escalate from time to time based on certain indices.

At March 31, 2004 the Company was obligated under non-cancellable operating leases for future minimum rentals as follows:

Fiscal year:
2005 $ 18,422,000
2006 14,315,000
2007 10,323,000
2008 7,337,000
2009 5,718,000
Thereafter 43,939,000
Sub �total 100,054,000
Less: Non-cancellable subleases (7,961,000)
Net lease obligations $ 92,093,000

Other Commitments
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On January 14, 2004, the Company announced that it had reached an agreement with Holding and Holding�s principal security holders providing
for a restructuring of the combined capital structure.  The financial restructuring is being effected pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger
and Reorganization dated as of December 18, 2003 among the Company, Holding and EMJ Metals LLC, a newly-formed wholly-owned
subsidiary, as well as an Exchange Agreement among the Company, Holding and Kelso Investment Associates IV, L.P. and certain of its
affiliates (�Kelso�).  The principal effect of the financial restructuring will be to convert all outstanding debt and equity securities of Holding to the
Company�s common stock.  Kelso is the holder of Holding�s outstanding Series A Variable Rate Notes and also is Holding�s controlling
stockholder.

On May 25, 2004 the Company announced that the proposed restructuring of the combined capital structure of Earle M. Jorgensen Company
(�EMJ�) with Earle M. Jorgensen Holding Company, Inc. (�Holding�), its parent company, had been delayed.  Because of the delay, additional
negotiations among Holding�s security holders and changes to the structure of the transaction are required before it can proceed. There is no
assurance that the transaction will be successfully negotiated or, if negotiated, will be approved by the requisite votes of Holding�s stockholders
or that the other conditions to completion of such a transaction will be satisfied.  Thus there can be no assurance that the merger will be
consummated.

In connection with the 1990 merger, the Company agreed to pay Kelso & Companies, Inc. (�Kelso�), affiliates of which own the majority of
Parent�s common stock, an annual fee of $1,250,000 each year for financial advisory services and to reimburse it for out-of-pocket expenses
incurred in connection with rendering such services. The Company also agreed to indemnify Kelso and its affiliates against certain claims,
losses, damages, liabilities, and expenses that may arise in connection with the merger. However, no such annual fee was payable for fiscal years
2002, 2003 and 2004 and other expenses paid to Kelso in fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004 were not significant.
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Governmental Matters

The Internal Revenue Service (the �IRS�) conducted an audit of the Company�s employee stock ownership plan (the �Plan�) for the fiscal years ended
March 31, 1992, through March 31, 1996, and issued a preliminary report to the Company in which the IRS asserted that certain contributions of
stock by the Parent to the Plan violated provisions of the Internal Revenue Code because the securities contributed were not �qualifying employer
securities� as defined by ERISA. In fiscal year 2002, this matter was settled without the Company admitting the allegations of the IRS, and the
Company paid $1,919,000 of excise tax to the IRS.

The Department of Labor (the �DOL�) also investigated the same transactions involving the Plan.  In the course of its investigation, the DOL and
its advisors reviewed the valuations of the Parent�s common and preferred stock prepared for the Plan and challenged the methodology used in
preparing the valuations.

On March 8, 2002, the DOL sued the Company, the Parent, the Plan and former members of the Company�s benefits committee in the federal
district court for the Central District of California. The DOL claims that the valuations of Parent�s common stock used to make annual
contributions to the Plan in each of the years 1994 through 2000 contained significant errors that resulted in the common stock being overvalued,
and that the failure of the members of our benefits committee to detect and correct the errors was a breach of their fiduciary duty under ERISA.
As a result of the alleged overvaluations, the DOL contended that the contributions to the Plan were prohibited transactions under ERISA.  On
January 27, 2003, the Company signed a settlement agreement with the DOL in connection with their lawsuit.  The key provisions of the
agreement are as follows: (i) the Company is not required to make any payments under the agreement at this time; (ii) the Company is prohibited
to make further common stock contributions to the stock bonus plan; (iii) the Company will continue to obtain annual appraisals of Parent stock
using methodology consistent with prior appraisals, and use that appraised value as the purchase price for repurchases of common stock as it has
done in the past, and; (iv) if the annual appraisal of the Company�s common stock is less than $4.25 per share, the Company shall pay a floor
price of $4.25 per share in connection with the repurchase of common stock from departing employees for shares that were originally
contributed to the stock bonus plan for the plan years 1994 through 2000.

If the Company pays the floor price in connection with the repurchase of common stock from departing employees, the agreement also allows
the DOL to assess the Company a penalty equal to 20% of the amount calculated by multiplying the difference between the appraised value and
the floor price by the number of shares repurchased at the floor price.

The Company does not believe the settlement will have a material impact on its financial condition or future results of operations, and believes
payments under the settlement, if any, will most likely be paid in immaterial amounts which will be spread over many years.

In December 2003, the Company entered into agreements with Holding, a subsidiary and the principal stockholders of Holding providing for a
merger and financial restructuring. Prior to approval of the transaction, the DOL initiated a review of the procedures followed by Holding�s
benefits committee in connection with evaluation of the proposed transaction and other strategic alternatives available to Holding and an
assessment of whether or not the proposed transaction complied with the terms of the consent order and the legal requirements applicable to the
stock bonus plan. Such review resulted in delays that, combined with other transactional requirements, precluded the consummation of the
merger and financial restructuring on the terms originally proposed. The Company is considering changes to the proposed transaction that will
achieve the objectives of the original restructuring transaction, while meeting the concerns expressed by the DOL. Holding intends to review any
proposed transaction with the DOL in advance under their compliance assistance program to ensure compliance with the terms of the consent
order and applicable law. There can be no assurance that a revised transaction will be agreed upon, approved by the Holding stockholders and
consummated.
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Environmental Contingencies

The Company is subject to extensive and changing federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations designed to protect the environment and
human health and safety, including those relating to the use, handling, storage, discharge and disposal of hazardous substances and the
remediation of environmental contamination. As a result, the Company is from time to time involved in administrative and judicial proceedings
and inquiries relating to environmental matters.

During fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, expenditures made in connection with environmental matters totaled $97,000, $194,000 and $232,000,
respectively, principally for settlement of claims, and monitoring, remediation and investigation activities at sites with contaminated soil and/or
groundwater and were expensed as incurred.  As of March 31, 2004, an accrual of $203,000 exists for future investigation and remediation
expenditures related to the following pending environmental matters.

F-18

Edgar Filing: JORGENSEN EARLE M CO /DE/ - Form 10-K

101



Forge (Seattle/Kent, WA).    In November 1998, the Company paid the purchasers of its former Forge facility and an
off-site disposal site $2,250,000 as an indemnification settlement for liabilities related to the remediation of known
contamination at the Forge facility. The Company continues to monitor the disposal site for environmental conditions
in accordance with a consent decree issued by the Washington Department of Ecology (�Ecology�).  Annual costs
associated with such monitoring are not significant, and the Company does not anticipate significant additional
expenditures related to this matter.

The Forge property is located on the Lower Duwamish Waterway, which has been identified by the United States Environmental Protection
Agency (�EPA�) as a Superfund Site (the �Duwamish Site�). Under the Federal Comprehensive Environmental Remediation, Compensation, and
Liability Act (�CERCLA�), owners or operators of facilities that have released hazardous substances to the environment may be liable for
remediation costs. Courts have held that such liability may be joint and several; however, in many instances, the costs are allocated among the
parties, primarily based on their estimated contribution to the contamination. The EPA, along with Ecology, have entered into an Administrative
Order of Consent (�AOC�) with four major property owners with potential liability for cleanup of the Duwamish Site that outlines tasks required
to be completed to further investigate the nature and extent of the contamination and cleanup alternatives. In November 2001, the current owners
of the Forge property notified the Company of a potential claim for indemnification for any liability relating to contamination of the Duwamish
Site. The notification stated that the Forge facility, along with other businesses located along the Duwamish Site, are expected to be named as
potentially responsible parties for contamination of the Duwamish Site and requested that the Company participate under a joint defense.

On February 6, 2003, the Company received a request from the EPA to sign an AOC under CERCLA to investigate certain areas of the
Duwamish Site.  A preliminary cost of proposed work under the AOC ranges from $350,000 to $450,000, and is subject to approval by the
EPA.  On April 15, 2003, the Company signed a funding and participation agreement with the current owners of the Forge property, which
requires it to fund 85% of costs to be incurred in connection with the investigation activities to be performed under the AOC.  As of March 31,
2004, the Company has accrued $203,000 for remaining costs that are expected to be incurred in future years.

The Company is continuing to evaluate this matter and remedies it may have, including insurance recoveries for any monies to be spent as part
of the investigation or cleanup of the Duwamish Site. At this time, the Company cannot determine what ultimate liability it may have relating to
this matter.

Union (New Jersey).    During fiscal year 1994, the Company was notified by the current owner that it has potential
responsibility for the environmental contamination of a property formerly owned by a subsidiary and disposed of by
such subsidiary prior to its acquisition by the Company. The prior owner of such subsidiary has also been notified of
its potential responsibility. On March 27, 1997, the current owner of the property informed the Company that it
estimated the cost of investigation and cleanup of the property at $875,000 and requested contribution to such costs
from the Company and the prior owner. The Company has contested responsibility and commented on the cleanup
plan and has not received any further demands or notifications. The Company does not have sufficient information to
determine what potential liability it has, if any.

Although it is possible that new information or future developments could require the Company to reassess its potential exposure relating to all
pending environmental matters, management believes that, based upon all currently available information, the resolution of such environmental
matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company�s financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. The possibility exists,
however, that new environmental legislation and/or environmental regulations may be adopted, or other environmental conditions may be found
to exist, that may require expenditures not currently anticipated and that may be material.
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9.  Legal

On April 22, 2002, the Company was sued by Champagne Metals, a small metals service center distributing aluminum coil products in
Oklahoma, alleging that the Company had conspired with other metal service centers to induce or coerce aluminum suppliers to refuse to
designate Champagne Metals as a distributor, which resulted in unspecified damages.  EMJ and the other defendants filed motions for summary
judgment, and on June 15, 2004, the federal District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma entered an order granting the motions for
summary judgment of each of the defendants including EMJ and dismissed the case.  The time for an appeal expires July 15, 2004.

The Company is involved in other litigation or legal matters in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, these matters will
be resolved without a material impact on the Company�s financial position or results of operations.
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EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Schedule
Number Description of Schedules*
Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

*  All other schedules are omitted as the required information is inapplicable or the information is presented in
the financial statements or related notes.
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EARLE M. JORGENSEN COMPANY

SCHEDULE II�VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E

Description

Balance at
beginning
of period

Charges to
costs and
expenses

Amounts
charged off

(net of recoveries)

Balance at
end

of period
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Year ended March 31, 2002 $ 427,000 $ 2,434,000 $ (2,409,000) $ 452,000
Year ended March 31, 2003 452,000 2,649,000 (2,711,000) 390,000
Year ended March 31, 2004 390,000 2,880,000 (2,669,000) 601,000

Reserve for inventory
Year ended March 31, 2002 $ 2,231,000 $ 2,705,000 $ (2,411,000) $ 2,525,000
Year ended March 31, 2003 2,525,000 2,321,000 (1,669,000) 3,177,000
Year ended March 31, 2004 3,177,000 1,123,000 (912,000) 3,388,000
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